NATIONAL HIV/AIDS STRATEGY for the **UNITED STATES:**

UPDATED TO 2020

JULY 2015



VISION

The United States will become a place where new HIV infections are rare, and when they do occur, every person, regardless of age, gender, race/ethnicity, sexual orientation, gender identity, or socio-economic circumstance, will have unfettered access to high quality, life-extending care, free from stigma and discrimination.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The National HIV/AIDS Strategy: Updated to 2020 is a result of contributions of people living with HIV; community groups and national organizations; providers from various disciplines; researchers; and other individuals working with Federal agencies, State, Tribal, and local governments to make their voices heard. The Office of National AIDS Policy (ONAP) hopes that dedication, inspiration, and hard work are reflected in this guiding national plan, and acknowledges that this Update would not be possible without full stakeholder participation.

ONAP also wishes to thank all partners throughout the Federal government who have contributed hours, weeks, and months to the creation of this document, and years of their careers to addressing the HIV epidemic in the United States and serving the American people.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
GOAL 1: REDUCING NEW HIV INFECTIONS	15
Step 1.A: Intensify HIV prevention efforts in the communities where HIV is most heavily concentrated	17
Step 1.B: Expand efforts to prevent HIV infection using a combination of effective evidence-based approaches	20
Step 1.C: Educate all Americans with easily accessible, scientifically accurate information about HIV risks, prevention, and transmission	24
GOAL 2: INCREASING ACCESS TO CARE AND IMPROVING HEALTH OUTCOMES FOR PEOPLE LIVING WITH HIV	27
Step 2.A: Establish seamless systems to link people to care immediately after diagnosis, and support retention in care to achieve viral suppression that can maximize the benefits of early treatment and reduce transmission risk	30
Step 2.B: Take deliberate steps to increase the capacity of systems as well as the number and diversity of available providers of clinical care and related services for people living with HIV	33
Step 2.C: Support comprehensive, coordinated, patient-centered care for people living with HIV, including addressing HIV-related co-occurring conditions and challenges meeting basic needs, such as housing	36
GOAL 3: REDUCING HIV-RELATED DISPARITIES AND HEALTH INEQUITIES	37
Step 3.A: Reduce HIV-related disparities in communities at high risk for HIV infection	
Step 3.B: Adopt structural approaches to reduce HIV infections and improve health outcomes in high-risk communities	40
Step 3.C: Reduce stigma and eliminate discrimination associated with HIV status	41
GOAL 4: ACHIEVING A MORE COORDINATED NATIONAL RESPONSE TO THE HIV EPIDEMIC	42
Step 4.A: Increase the coordination of HIV programs across the Federal government and between Federal agencies and State, territorial, Tribal, and local governments	44
Step 4.B: Develop improved mechanisms to monitor and report on progress toward achieving national goals	46
APPENDICES	
Appendix 1: Indicators Development and Progress	49
Appendix 2: List of Acronyms	57
Appendix 3: List of References	58

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Nation's first comprehensive National HIV/AIDS Strategy for the United States (Strategy) was released in 2010, and in the subsequent five years, people and organizations have joined together around its vision and goals. The Strategy has changed the way the American people talk about HIV, prioritize and organize prevention and care services locally, and deliver clinical and non-clinical services that support people living with HIV to remain engaged in care, and has helped achieve the following:

- Implementation of the Affordable Care Act. Millions of Americans can access preventive services like HIV testing without a co-pay or deductible. People living with HIV can no longer be discriminated against because of their HIV status, and thousands more people living with HIV have new coverage options through Medicaid expansion or the Health Insurance Marketplace.
- Groundbreaking work by the National Institutes of Health (NIH), including the HIV Prevention Trials Network (HPTN) 052 study, which *Science* magazine called the scientific breakthrough of 2011, and which demonstrated that early treatment for HIV reduces the risk of onward transmission by 96 percent while simultaneously improving health outcomes. NIH also supported the Strategic Timing of Antiretroviral Therapy (START) trial, which demonstrated that those with HIV who received immediate treatment significantly reduced their risk of serious, adverse health outcomes.
- The introduction of PrEP (pre-exposure prophylaxis), a much-needed new biomedical prevention tool that helps people reduce their risk of HIV infection by taking a daily pill. Based on evidence from multiple clinical trials released from 2011 to 2013, the Food and Drug Administration approved PrEP in 2012, and in 2014 the U.S. Public Health Service issued clinical practice guidelines for PrEP.
- Vital work by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), including key guidance for the adoption of new testing technologies that enhance the ability to diagnose HIV soon after infection. These technologies broaden the window of opportunity for effective interventions during the acute phase of infection—a time when HIV is most likely to be transmitted to others.
- Critical funding increases for the AIDS Drug Assistance Program (ADAP) of the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), which ensured access to lifesaving treatment by helping to eliminate ADAP waiting lists, and for additional services that support a system of care necessary for those with HIV to maintain health.
- Major strides in collaboration across the Federal government, establishing cross-agency partnerships, formulating recommendations for the HIV Care Continuum Initiative, and developing and implementing a core set of HIV program indicators to support data sharing and increased transparency in progress made. For example:

- A Federal interagency workgroup was established to investigate the intersection of HIV and violence against women and **it resulted in more than 15 new initiatives within two years**.
- The Department of Justice (DOJ) collaborated with CDC to publish a comprehensive examination of HIV-specific criminal laws. As a result, DOJ issued a best practices guide to reform these laws that help states ensure their policies do not place unnecessary burdens on individuals living with HIV/ AIDS and that they reflect an accurate understanding of HIV transmission routes and associated benefits of treatment.
- Demonstration projects funded through the Secretary's Minority AIDS Initiative Fund (SMAIF) have engaged multiple HHS agencies—including CDC, HRSA, and the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA)—to foster coordination and collaboration across agencies and evaluate agency policies that may act as barriers to coordinated planning, implementation, delivery, and evaluation of HIV/AIDS services at the state and local levels.

These and other accomplishments have resulted in important gains toward targets for increasing the percentage of persons living with HIV who know their status, are linked to care, and have achieved viral suppression, as well as reducing death rates. Despite this progress, the level of infection is stable overall. While declines in diagnoses have occurred for women, persons who inject drugs, and heterosexuals, the epidemic among gay and bisexual men remains severe, with increases in new diagnoses. Achieving the goals of the Strategy will require intensified efforts for this population in order to realize the greatest impact.

The Nation has the tools to slow, and eventually end, the epidemic in the United States. With ongoing leadership, sustained funding commitments, strategic action, and emerging digital tools and technologies to help inform and educate, the American people are closer than ever to the day when the Strategy's vision will be attained. Together, people living with HIV and those affected, state, Tribal, and local governments, health providers, government and industry scientists, faith leaders, and community partners have fundamentally transformed the response to HIV/AIDS in the United States. The Strategy has truly become the roadmap for collective action and has brought new energy and commitment in States and local communities across the country.

This is the first update of the Strategy (Update), which is designed to look ahead to 2020. The Update reflects the hard work accomplished and the lessons learned since 2010. Moreover, it incorporates the scientific advances that could one day bring the United States, and the world, closer to virtually eliminating new HIV infections, effectively supporting all people living with HIV to lead long and healthy lives and eliminating the disparities that persist among some populations.

The Strategy remains a steady foundation on which to build future efforts. As such, this Update retains its vision and four main goals through 2020. At the same time, the Strategy is also a living document, designed to be updated. The Update includes the following changes:

- The **Steps and Recommended Actions** under each of the goals have been revised to reflect past progress and activities to meet the Strategy goals (see "At-A-Glance" summaries on pages 8-11).
- The Update has **10 quantitative indicators**—some of which are new additions, and some of which are revised—to better monitor progress and ensure that the Nation is constantly moving in the right direction to achieve its goals (see list on page 12 and detailed information in the Indicator Development and Progress Appendix). In addition, three areas have been identified as priorities for developing indicators: PrEP, stigma, and HIV among transgender persons.

 The objectives and recommendations of both the HIV Care Continuum Initiative and the Federal Interagency Working Group on the Intersection of HIV/AIDS, Violence against Women and Girls, and Gender-Related Health Disparities have been fully integrated into the Steps and Recommended Actions (see Tables on pages 13 and 14).

As a guiding document, the Update is a National plan, not just a Federal plan. Federal efforts are vitally important but the goals of the Strategy can only be achieved by engagement at the national, state, Tribal, and local levels and across all sectors. It is especially important that people who work in communities play an active role in implementing this Strategy. It is on the ground that the work is accomplished, and it is on the ground where the Strategy's implementation has improved the lives of Americans impacted by HIV.

The Update looks toward 2020 with the following statements in mind:

- **There is still an HIV epidemic** and it remains a major health issue for the United States.
- Most people can live long, healthy lives with HIV if they are diagnosed and get treatment.
- For a variety of reasons, certain populations bear a disproportionate burden of HIV.
- People across the Nation **deserve access to tools and education** to prevent HIV transmission.
- Every person diagnosed with HIV **deserves immediate access to treatment and care** that is nonstigmatizing, competent, and responsive to the needs of the diverse populations impacted by HIV.

The Update allows for opportunities to refresh the ongoing work in HIV prevention, care, and research. **Advances in four key areas are of critical focus for the next five years**:

- Widespread testing and linkage to care, enabling people living with HIV to access treatment early.
- Broad support for people living with HIV to remain engaged in comprehensive care, including support for treatment adherence.
- **Universal viral suppression** among people living with HIV.
- **Full access to comprehensive PrEP services** for those whom it is appropriate and desired, with support for medication adherence for those using PrEP.

A COLLABORATIVE NATIONAL RESPONSE

By working in the direction of shared national goals and aligning efforts across sectors with the principles and priorities of the updated Strategy, the Nation can advance toward the life-saving HIV goals.

GOAL 1: REDUCING NEW HIV INFECTIONS

HIV does not impact all Americans equally. While anyone can become infected, the HIV epidemic is concentrated in key populations and geographic areas. In 2010, the Strategy called for a path that followed epidemiological data. This Update continues along that path by calling for Federal agencies to ensure that funding is allocated according to the current epidemiological profile of each jurisdiction, and that cost-effective, scalable interventions are prioritized in the communities where HIV is most concentrated for the following groups:

- Gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men of all races and ethnicities (noting the particularly high burden of HIV among Black gay and bisexual men)
- Black women and men
- Latino men and women
- People who inject drugs
- Youth aged 13 to 24 years
 (noting the particularly high burden of HIV among young Black gay and bisexual men)
- People in the Southern United States
- Transgender women (noting the particularly high burden of HIV among Black transgender women)

Over the next five years, the Nation must ensure that programmatic funding is appropriately allocated and supports the most effective interventions, including research into innovative ways to prevent new infections.

The HIV prevention toolbox has grown. Based on scientific and technological advances in the past five years, new guidelines and recommendations have expanded the number of options for prevention. CDC has issued guidance to providers recommending PrEP be considered for those at substantial risk for HIV. In addition, guidelines from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) now recommend that all persons with HIV be offered treatment not only for their own health, but also because antiretroviral treatment significantly reduces the risk of HIV transmission to others. Additionally, the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommends that all people aged 15 to 65 years, and all pregnant women, be screened for HIV. CDC has also provided guidance for the adoption of new testing technologies that enhance the ability to diagnose HIV soon after infection, broadening the window of opportunity for effective interventions during the acute phase of infection—a time when HIV is most likely to be transmitted to others.

Over the next five years sustained effort is required to realize the promise of these and other scientific advances, and to adopt and embrace emerging beneficial research findings. These may include the availability of sustained release antiretroviral agents either for PrEP or for treatment, new developments in microbicides or vaccines, or more effective delivery of HIV care services.

HIV information should be universally integrated into appropriate educational access points. All

Americans deserve scientifically accurate, easy-to-access information about HIV transmission and prevention. This entails providing clear, specific, consistent, and scientifically up-to-date messages about risk and prevention strategies—followed by active deployment of this information to develop and disseminate education campaigns, prevention programs, and risk assessment tools. These interventions should leverage digital strategies and new technologies to reach the broadest number of people at relevant access points.

GOAL 2: INCREASING ACCESS TO CARE AND IMPROVING HEALTH OUTCOMES FOR PEOPLE LIVING WITH HIV

Health care coverage matters for people living with HIV. Due to the Affordable Care Act, people living with HIV can no longer be discriminated against on the basis of their HIV status or other pre-existing health conditions when seeking health care coverage. In addition, thousands more people living with HIV have new access to Medicaid or a Marketplace health insurance plan. And for people who already have health care coverage, there are new limits on out-of-pocket spending and other protections to make coverage more secure. Additionally, the Administration, with strong bipartisan support from Congress, has been unwavering in its commitment to sustaining the Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program, administered by HRSA. Critical funding increases for the ADAP have been provided to ensure access to lifesaving treatment and support for the clinics and additional services necessary for those with HIV to maintain health. Finally, successful access to care is often precluded by unmet basic needs such as housing. Supplementing care services with robust policies in support of basic needs is crucial for timely linkage to and retention in HIV care.

Improving outcomes at every step of the HIV care continuum must remain a priority. In 2013, President Obama issued an Executive Order establishing the HIV Care Continuum Initiative, calling for coordinated action among Federal agencies to mobilize efforts in line with the recent advances in HIV treatment. These efforts are expected to yield longer lives and fewer new infections. Going forward, efforts must be directed toward improving outcomes at every step of the continuum, from testing to diagnosis, linkage and engagement in care, treatment, and ultimately, viral suppression. Key to this effort will be the identification and re-engagement of people who have been lost to care. Promising initiatives in several cities and States across the country have already demonstrated successful strategies, using HIV surveillance data and clinical care data. An essential next step is to enhance capacity in all states to systematically identify and re-engage people living with HIV. This will also allow more rigorous monitoring of the continuum at all stages of care.

Developing models of competent care that treat the whole person, as well as the virus, is crucial. People living with HIV—after being diagnosed, entering the healthcare system, and being prescribed treatment — require supports to remain engaged in care. A culturally competent and skilled workforce is vital to this effort, and includes a range of providers such as peer navigators, nurses, doctors, case managers, pharmacists, and social workers. Key priorities for improving outcomes along the care continuum include expanding the workforce by engaging and training non-traditional providers and expanding proven models of team-based, patient-centered care that facilitate ongoing engagement in care. Implementation science research is also essential to develop evidence-based models of care that are proven to deliver life-enhancing services.

SCIENTIFIC DISCOVERY REQUIRES A LONG-TERM COMMITMENT

The scientific advances that have led to current treatment and prevention interventions are the result of ongoing Federal investments in basic, biomedical, behavioral, and social science research. In 2013, President Obama announced that NIH would redirect \$100 million to launch an HIV Cure Initiative to further advance HIV/AIDS research with the hope of catalyzing a new generation of therapies aimed at curing HIV or inducing lifelong remission. Today, the science directly points to the benefit of getting all people living with HIV on treatment as soon as possible. The NIH has supported groundbreaking work, including the HPTN 052 study, called the scientific breakthrough of 2011 by *Science* magazine, which demonstrated that early treatment for HIV reduces the risk of onward transmission by 96 percent while simultaneously improving health outcomes, and the START trial demonstrated that those with HIV who received immediate treatment significantly reduced their risk of illness and death. Combined with the treatment-as-prevention benefit previously demonstrated by the HPTN 052 study, **the emphasis on optimizing the continuum of care and making access to lifesaving antiretroviral therapy a right, not a privilege, becomes a core tenet of the Strategy.**

GOAL 3: REDUCING HIV-RELATED DISPARITIES AND HEALTH INEQUITIES

The Nation cannot meet the Strategy goals without reducing disparities. Poor social and environmental conditions, coupled with high rates of HIV among specific populations and in geographic areas, contribute to stubbornly persistent—and in some cases, growing—HIV-related health disparities. These disparities include higher rates of HIV infection, lower rates of access to HIV care, lower HIV viral suppression rates and higher HIV-related death rates; and they affect Black, Latino, and American Indian/ Alaska Native people, transgender people, and young people.

Structural approaches can reduce risk of HIV transmission at community and societal levels.

It is imperative that the conditions in which people live, learn, work, play, and pray facilitate—rather than detract from—their ability to lead healthy lives. Such conditions include the background prevalence of HIV in sexual and drug networks as well as housing, education, employment, and family and social support systems. It has become abundantly clear that these social determinants of health are significant factors in the ability to meet the goals of the Strategy. More work is needed to test new models that advance health in a variety of settings. Work is underway to develop models for trauma-informed primary care that offer promise to change the health care environment in ways that reduce stress on patients and providers alike, and improve HIV and other health outcomes.

Stigma and discrimination must be eliminated in order to diminish barriers to HIV prevention,

testing, and care. HIV-related stigma can be confounded by or complicated with stigma related to substance use, mental health, sexual orientation, gender identity, race/ethnicity, or sex work. Stigma can lead to many negative consequences for people living with HIV. It is imperative that all levels of government recognize that these various biases exist and work to combat stigma and discrimination in order to reduce new infections and improve health outcomes for people living with HIV. In the legal arena, this requires ensuring that all Federal and state criminal laws regarding HIV transmission and prevention are scientifically based, and that prosecutors and others in law enforcement have an accurate understanding of transmission risks.

GOAL 4: ACHIEVING A MORE COORDINATED NATIONAL RESPONSE TO THE HIV EPIDEMIC

Recognizing that improved coordination has occurred since the release of the Strategy in 2010, **even greater coordination is possible and essential**. Further effort should be directed toward identifying, learning from and replicating international, state, Tribal, and local successes. Federal leadership is critical in identifying overarching national priorities, as well as supporting research to evaluate which activities are most effective and ensure that Federal resources deployed will have maximum effect. The White House Office of National AIDS Policy (ONAP) will work collaboratively with the Office of National Drug Control Policy and other White House offices, as well as other Federal agencies, to further the goals of the Strategy.

As with the 2010 Strategy, this Update provides specific recommendations to help us meet the goals as well as indicators to measure progress. A system of regular public reporting will help to sustain nationwide public attention and support for the Strategy.

Working together, ONAP, the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health at HHS, and other Federal agencies will develop a Federal Action Plan during 2015 that outlines the specific steps to be taken by Federal agencies to implement the priorities set by the Update. In addition, an action plan framework, similar to the

Federal Action Plan structure, will be created to assist non-Federal partners such as state and local health departments, Tribal governments, community-based organizations, coalitions of persons living with HIV, and other stakeholders to identify specific actions that they can take—tailored to their own specific missions and priorities—to ensure that the Nation is working to meet the goals of the Strategy. Shared priorities, streamlined grantee requirements, evidence-based strategies, and data-informed resource allocation will help get us there.

CALL TO ACTION

The Obama Administration demonstrated its commitment to reinvigorating the collective domestic response to HIV when the Strategy was released in 2010. Since then, the Nation has aligned its efforts to move closer toward achieving the goals of the Strategy and the national dialogue around HIV/AIDS has evolved to imagining a future free of new HIV infections in the United States and healthier, longer lives for people living with HIV. However, major challenges remain. Working together with renewed focus and vigor will advance that vision. Key focus areas for the Update include HIV testing with linkage to care for those with HIV infection, along with support for retention in care and treatment adherence to ensure that persons living with HIV remain virally suppressed, and for those testing negative but at substantial risk, linkage to PrEP and support for medication adherence. This Update is a call to action to myriad systems: **everyone is needed to put this Strategy into action and end the HIV epidemic.**

The Strategy is not a budget document and does not imply approval for any specific action under Executive Order 12866 or the Paperwork Reduction Act. The Strategy will inform the Federal budget and regulatory development processes within the context of the goals articulated in the President's Budget. All activities included in the Strategy are subject to budgetary constraints and other approvals, including the weighing of priorities and available resources by the Administration in formulating its annual budget and by Congress in legislating appropriations.

ACTIONS AT-A-GLANCE GOAL 1: REDUCING NEW HIV INFECTIONS

STEP 1.A Intensify HIV prevention efforts in communities where HIV is most heavily concentrated.		
1.A. 1	Allocate public funding consistent with the geographic distribution of the epidemic.	
1.A. 2 ****	Focus on high-risk populations.	
1.A. 3	Maintain HIV prevention efforts in populations at risk but that have a low national burden of HIV.	
STEP 1.B	Expand efforts to prevent HIV infection using a combination of effective, evidence-based approaches.	
1.B. 1	Design and evaluate innovative prevention strategies and combination approaches for preventing HIV infection in high-risk populations and communities, and prioritize and promote research to fill gaps in HIV prevention science among the highest risk populations and communities.	
1.B. 2 5	Support and strengthen integrated and patient-centered HIV and related screening (sexually transmitted infections [STI], substance use, mental health, intimate partner violence [IPV], viral hepatitis infections) and linkage to basic services (housing, education, employment).	
1.B. 3	Expand access to effective prevention services, including pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) and post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP).	
1.B. 4	Expand prevention with persons living with HIV.	
STEP 1.C	Educate all Americans with easily accessible, scientifically accurate information about HIV risks, prevention, and transmission.	
1.C. 1	Provide clear, specific, consistent, and scientifically up-to-date messages about HIV risks and prevention strategies.	
1.C. 2	Utilize evidence-based social marketing and education campaigns, and leverage digital tools and new technologies.	
1.C. 3	Promote age-appropriate HIV and STI prevention education for all Americans.	
1.C. 4	Expand public outreach, education, and prevention efforts on HIV and intersecting issues, such IPV.	
1.C. 5	Tackle misperceptions, stigma, and discrimination to break down barriers to HIV prevention, testing, and care.	

ACTIONS AT-A-GLANCE **GOAL 2: INCREASING ACCESS TO CARE AND IMPROVING HEALTH OUTCOMES FOR PEOPLE LIVING WITH HIV**

STEP 2.A	Establish seamless systems to link people to care immediately after diagnosis, and support retention in care to achieve viral suppression that can maximize the benefits of early treatment and reduce transmission risk.
2.A. 1	Ensure continuity of high-quality comprehensive health care coverage to support access to HIV care.
2.A. 2	Ensure linkage to HIV medical care and improve retention in care for people living with HIV.
2.A. 3	Support and strengthen capacity to implement innovative and culturally appropriate models to more effectively deliver care along the care continuum.
2.A. 4	Prioritize and promote research to fill gaps in knowledge along the care continuum.
2.A. 5	Provide information, resources, and technical assistance to strengthen the delivery of services along the care continuum, particularly at the State, Tribal, and local levels.
STEP 2.B	Take deliberate steps to increase the capacity of systems as well as the number and diversity of available providers of clinical care and related services for people living with HIV.
2.B. 1	Increase the number of available providers of HIV care.
2.B. 2	Strengthen the current provider workforce to ensure access to and quality of care.
2.B. 3	Support screening for and referral to substance use and mental health services for people living with HIV.
STEP 2.C	Support comprehensive, coordinated patient-centered care for people living with HIV, including addressing HIV-related co-occurring conditions and challenges in meeting basic needs, such as housing.
2.C. 1	Address policies to promote access to housing and other basic needs and other supportive services for people living with HIV.
2.C. 2	Improve outcomes for women in HIV care by addressing violence and trauma, and factors that increase risk of violence for women and girls living with HIV.

ACTIONS AT-A-GLANCE GOAL 3: REDUCING HIV-RELATED DISPARITIES AND HEALTH INEQUITIES

STEP 3.A	Reduce HIV-related disparities in communities at high risk for HIV infection.
3.A. 1 ****	Expand services to reduce HIV-related disparities experienced by gay and bisexual men (especially young Black gay and bisexual men), Black women, and persons living in the Southern United States.
3.A. 2	Support engagement in care for groups with low levels of viral suppression, including youth and persons who inject drugs.
STEP 3.B	Adopt structural approaches to reduce HIV infections and improve health outcomes in high-risk communities.
3.B. 1	Scale up effective, evidence-based programs that address social determinants of health.
3.B. 2	Support research to better understand the scope of the intersection of HIV and violence against women and girls and develop effective interventions.
STEP 3.C	Reduce stigma and eliminate discrimination associated with HIV status.
3.C.1	Promote evidence-based public health approaches to HIV prevention and care.
3.C. 2	Strengthen enforcement of civil rights laws, and assist States in protecting people with HIV from violence, retaliation, and discrimination associated with HIV status.
3.C. 3 1111	Mobilize communities to reduce HIV-related stigma.
3.C. 4	Promote public leadership of people living with HIV.

ACTIONS AT-A-GLANCE GOAL 4: ACHIEVING A MORE COORDINATED NATIONAL RESPONSE TO THE HIV EPIDEMIC

STEP	STEP 4.A Increase the coordination of HIV programs across the Federal government and between Federal agencies and State, territorial, Tribal, and local governments.			
4.A. 1	.1 E Streamline reporting requirements for Federal grantees.			
4.A. 2	A.2 Strengthen coordination across data systems and the use of data to improve health outcomes and monitor use of Federal funds.			
4.A. 3	A.3 Ensure coordinated program planning and administration.			
4.A. 4	4.A.4 OPromote resource allocation that has the greatest impact on achieving the Strategy goals.			
STEP	4.B		Develop improved mechanisms to monitor and report on progress toward achieving national goals.	
4.B. 1	4.B. 1 Strengthen the timely availability and use of data.			
4.B. 2	3.2 Provide regular public reporting on Strategy goals.			
4.B. 3	B.3 Enhance program accountability.			

INDICATORS AT-A-GLANCE

INDICATOR 1	Increase the percentage of people living with HIV who know their serostatus to at least 90 percent .	
INDICATOR 2	Reduce the number of new diagnoses by at least 25 percent .	
INDICATOR 3	Reduce the percentage of young gay and bisexual men who have engaged in HIV-risk behaviors by at least 10 percent .	
INDICATOR 4	Increase the percentage of newly diagnosed persons linked to HIV medical care within one month of their HIV diagnosis to at least 85 percent .	
INDICATOR 5	Increase the percentage of persons with diagnosed HIV infection who are retained in HIV medical care to at least 90 percent .	
INDICATOR 6	Increase the percentage of persons with diagnosed HIV infection who are virally suppressed to at least 80 percent .	
INDICATOR 7	Reduce the percentage of persons in HIV medical care who are homeless to no more than 5 percent .	
INDICATOR 8	Reduce the death rate among persons with diagnosed HIV infection by at least 33 percent .	
INDICATOR 9	Reduce disparities in the rate of new diagnoses by at least 15 percent in the following groups: gay and bisexual men, young Black gay and bisexual men, Black females, and persons living in the Southern United States.	
INDICATOR 10	Increase the percentage of youth and persons who inject drugs with diagnosed HIV infection who are virally suppressed to at least 80 percent .	

REDUCING INCIDENCE, MEASURING DIAGNOSIS

Although HIV incidence estimates were used previously as an indicator for the Strategy to measure reductions in new infections, these estimates do not provide a timely and consistent way to monitor progress. The estimated number of new infections has changed, and likely will continue to change over time, due to changes in HIV testing technology and incidence estimation methods. These changes make it difficult to use these data as an indicator, to measure progress over time. In contrast, HIV diagnosis data as a way to monitor progress towards reducing new infections are published in a routine and standardized format and available for all States. Given these advantages, HIV diagnosis data are used for the indicator in this Update.

Using diagnosis data to track progress in reducing new HIV infections has some challenges. First, these data must be interpreted with consideration for trends in HIV testing, as changes in testing can lead to changes in diagnosis trends that are not related to trends in new infections. For example, if HIV diagnosis trends decrease in a particular population, evaluation is required to determine whether this decrease is due to fewer HIV tests being conducted or HIV tests being performed on persons at lower risk, versus an indication that new HIV infections are decreasing. Second, efforts to increase the percentage of people living with HIV who know their HIV status require an increase in diagnoses—meaning that, at least initially, achieving progress toward Indicator 1 may have a negative impact on progress toward Indicator 2. Over the longer term, diagnosing individuals who were previously undiagnosed will ultimately result in increased linkage to and retention in care and treatment, increased viral suppression, and decreased transmission to uninfected partners. This will reduce new infections, which will be reflected in a decrease in the number of new diagnoses.

Diagnosis data are used throughout this document to describe the burden of HIV and quantify disparities in populations and communities. These data are used to guide public health action at the Federal, State, and local levels.

ACTIONS AT-A-GLANCE COMPARISON INTERSECTION OF HIV/AIDS, VIOLENCE AGAINST WOMEN AND GIRLS, AND GENDER-RELATED HEALTH DISPARITIES

In 2012 a Federal Interagency Working Group was established as part of a Presidential Memorandum that committed the Administration to improving efforts to understand and address the intersection of HIV/ AIDS, violence against women and girls, and gender-related health disparities. This group developed five recommendations that were core objectives for action. Those recommendations have been incorporated into the Update, as shown in the table below.

	FEDERAL INTERAGENCY WORKING GROUP RECOMMENDATIONS (2013)	AS INTEGRATED INTO THE UPDATED NATIONAL HIV/AIDS STRATEGY
1	Improve health and wellness for women by screening for intimate partner violence (IPV) and HIV.	1.B.2 Support and strengthen integrated and patient- centered HIV and related screening (STIs, substance use, mental health, IPV, viral hepatitis infections) and linkage to basic services (housing, education, employment).*
2	Improve outcomes for women in HIV care by addressing violence and trauma.	2.C.2 Improve outcomes for women in HIV care by addressing violence and trauma, and factors that increase risk of violence for women and girls living with HIV.
3	Address certain contributing factors that increase the risk of violence for women and girls living with HIV.	 2.C.1 Address policies to promote access to housing and other basic needs and other supportive services for people living with HIV. → Federal efforts should be enhanced to address HIV and IPV among homeless and marginally housed women and girls.
4	Expand public outreach, education, and prevention efforts regarding HIV and violence against women and girls.	 1.C.4 Expand public outreach, education, and prevention efforts on HIV and intersecting issues, such as IPV. → Empowering youth with information about their physical health and social and emotional well-being must continue to be part of a comprehensive approach to prevention and responding to HIV and violence; reaching Black and Latina women and girls should be a priority.
5	Support research to better understand	3.B.2 Support research to better understand the scope of the intersection of HIV and violence against women

5 Support research to better understand the scope of the intersection of HIV/ AIDS and violence against women and girls, and develop effective interventions. **3.B.2** Support research to better understand the scope of the intersection of HIV and violence against women and girls, and develop effective interventions.

^{*} The specific recommendation on screening for IPV among women was incorporated into the broader recommendations for screening for multiple conditions, including IPV, for all persons

state and local levels.

ACTIONS AT-A-GLANCE COMPARISON HIV CARE CONTINUUM INITIATIVE

The HIV Care Continuum Initiative was established by Executive Order in 2013 to accelerate improvements in HIV prevention and care. Recommendations and action steps from the Federal Interagency HIV Care Continuum Working Group were developed to guide ongoing implementation of the Strategy. Those recommendations have been integrated into the Update, as shown in the table below.

	HIV CARE CONTINUUM Recommendations (2013)	AS INTEGRATED INTO THE UPDATED NATIONAL HIV/AIDS STRATEGY
1	Support, implement, and assess innovative models to more effectively deliver care along the care continuum.	2.A.3 Support and strengthen capacity to implement innovative and culturally appropriate models to more effectively deliver care along the care continuum.
2	Tackle misperceptions, stigma, and discrimination to break down barriers to care.	1.C.5 Tackle misconceptions, stigma, and discrimination to break down barriers to HIV prevention, testing, and care.
3	Strengthen data collection, coordination, and use of data to improve health outcomes and monitor use of Federal resources.	4.A.2 Strengthen coordination across data systems, and the use of data to improve health outcomes and monitor use of Federal funds.
4	Prioritize and promote research to fill gaps in knowledge along the care continuum.	2.A.4 Prioritize and promote research to fill gaps in knowledge along the care continuum.
5	Provide information, resources, and technical assistance to strengthen the delivery of services along the care continuum, particularly at the	2.A.5 Provide information, resources, and technical assistance to strengthen the delivery of services along the care continuum, particularly at the State, Tribal, and local levels.

GOAL 1: REDUCING NEW HIV INFECTIONS THE OPPORTUNITY

The best ways to reduce new HIV infections are to ensure timely diagnosis and engagement in care and treatment for those who are living with HIV; target prevention resources to the places with the largest burden of disease and the populations at greatest risk; ensure that the most effective prevention strategies are prioritized and widely implemented; and continue to conduct research on PrEP, microbicides, and vaccines. More than three decades into the HIV epidemic, great progress has been made both domestically and internationally in controlling the spread of infections, although more still needs to be done.

Early on, the United States succeeded in mounting a response that involved people living with HIV; businesses; the public sector; foundations; pharmaceutical companies; scientific, medical, social work, and public health professionals; faith communities; and others. Their collective efforts have helped contribute to major successes in reducing HIV infections:

- Development of HIV diagnostic tests and widespread testing efforts
- Effective screening of the blood supply so that transfusion-transmitted infections are rare
- Screening and treating expectant mothers during pregnancy to reduce perinatal transmission
- Increased access to new, sterile syringes and other injection equipment to minimize infections from injection drug use

In addition, in the five years since the National HIV/AIDS Strategy was released, there have been trailblazing scientific advances, major policy shifts, and significant changes in the way HIV prevention dollars are distributed. Milestones during this period include:

- Definitive evidence that early treatment promotes improved health outcomes for those infected and reduces risk of transmission to their partners.^{1,2}
- Groundbreaking studies showing that **PrEP** is effective in reducing acquisition of infection.³⁻⁶
- Implementation of the Affordable Care Act, which increased the number of Americans—including
 persons living with and at risk for HIV—who have access to health care coverage and preventive services
 such as HIV testing that are covered without cost sharing.
- Shifting funding for HIV prevention programs to align with the number of people living with diagnosed HIV infection so the funding can have the greatest impact.⁷

To achieve the goal of reducing new infections, however, the following challenges must be addressed:

- Too many people living with HIV are unaware of their status or diagnosed late: in 2012, 13 percent, or about 156,300 of those infected, were undiagnosed, and in 2012, 24 percent of persons diagnosed with HIV had a stage 3 (AIDS) classification at the time of diagnosis.⁸
- Too many people living with HIV are not retained in care and, thus are not able to reap the benefits of treatment, prevention, and other services.⁸
- Too many Americans do not have the basic facts about HIV, other STIs, and infection risk associated with substance use.⁹
- Diagnoses of HIV infection are increasing in young gay and bisexual men, and the impact of HIV among gay and bisexual men of all ages remains severe.¹⁰
- Increases in substance use disorders related to prescription drug use, overdose, and viral hepatitis
 infections have complicated the ability to address HIV and require sustained access to prevention and
 treatment services so as not to erode successes in reducing HIV among people who inject drugs.¹¹⁻¹⁴

SUMMARY OF STEPS

It is essential to pursue a concerted national effort to reduce new HIV infections. The following steps are critical to achieving success:

STEP 1.A	Intensify HIV prevention efforts in communities where HIV is most heavily concentrated.
STEP 1.B	Expand efforts to prevent HIV infection using a combination of effective, evidence-based approaches.
STEP 1.C	Educate all Americans with easily accessible, scientifically accurate information about HIV risks, prevention, and transmission.

INDICATORS OF PROGRESS

Working together on these critical steps, we aim to meet the following targets by 2020:

INDICATOR 1	Increase the percentage of people living with HIV who know their serostatus to at least 90 percent .
INDICATOR 2	Reduce the number of new diagnoses by at least 25 percent .
INDICATOR 3	Reduce the percentage of young gay and bisexual men who have engaged in HIV-risk behaviors by at least 10 percent .

POLICY AND ACTION

STEP 1.A Intensify HIV prevention efforts in communities where HIV is most heavily concentrated.

In the beginning of the HIV epidemic, there was widespread fear that it would spread throughout the general population. More than three decades later, the United States epidemic has not run the course that was previously feared. HIV cases in the United States are largely concentrated in specific locations and among key populations.¹⁰ For example, while more than one third of the population lives in southern states, this region accounts for more than half of all HIV diagnoses.¹⁰ Among the United States territories, high numbers of HIV diagnoses are found in Puerto Rico.¹⁰

In 2012, a major shift was made in how Federal HIV prevention funding was provided to state and territorial health departments to better align resources with epidemiology by allocating funding based on the number of persons living with diagnosed HIV infection; in addition, specific activities directed to hard-hit populations were prioritized to achieve the highest impact.⁷ Going forward, more must be done to ensure that prevention resources at the state and local level are strategically concentrated in specific communities with high levels of risk for HIV infection. Intensifying efforts in communities where HIV is concentrated, and focusing on interventions that are effective and scalable can have the biggest impact, lowering all communities' collective risk of acquiring HIV infection.

Several jurisdictions have, through focused efforts, seen decreasing trends in HIV, including the States of New York and Massachusetts and the cities of San Francisco and Los Angeles.¹⁵⁻¹⁸ In addition, some States and local areas have put forth their own plans to "end AIDS," such as New York State, Washington State, and San Francisco.¹⁹⁻²¹

STATE AND LOCAL PLANS TO END AIDS

States and local jurisdictions have heeded the call to action of the National HIV/AIDS Strategy and developed local plans to improve care continuum outcomes and dramatically reduce HIV infections in their regions.

State of New York: Guided by an overarching three-point "End AIDS" plan to identify undiagnosed person with HIV, link and retain HIV-diagnosed persons in care and treatment, and facilitate access to PrEP, by 2020 New York State aims to reduce new HIV infections to 750. www.health.ny.gov/diseases/aids/ending_the_epidemic/docs/blueprint.pdf

State of Washington: End AIDS Washington, through Washington Health Plan Finder, local clinical and community-based testing centers, PrEP drug assistance program, an academic clinic and local AIDS Drug Assistance Program working in collaboration, aims to reduce new HIV infections by 50 percent by 2020 by "Getting Insured, Getting Tested, Getting PrEP, and Getting Treatment." <u>www.endaidswashington.org</u>

City and County of San Francisco: "Zero HIV infections, zero HIV deaths, zero HIV stigma" are the goals of San Francisco's "Getting to Zero" consortium, consisting of the local government, health department, planning councils, universities, community-based organizations, and care providers, large and small. <u>www.sfhiv.org/wp-content/uploads/1113-Getting-to-Zero.pdf</u>

A critical part of making the best use of investments and maximizing impact is to focus attention and resources on persons living with HIV infection and those who are at greatest risk for acquisition. Figure 1 shows the populations that accounted for the largest share of HIV diagnoses in the United States in 2013, the most recent year for which data are available.¹⁰ These populations represent persons at greatest risk for acquiring HIV.







Although they do not represent a large share of the overall number of persons living with HIV infection, the prevalence of HIV infection is high among transgender women. Some studies have found that as many as 30 percent of transgender individuals are living with HIV infection.²² Historically, efforts focused on this population have been limited, particularly those for transgender women of color. The Federal government has improved those efforts since 2010 but must remain vigilant in increasing knowledge and appropriate support and interventions for this population.

It is important to note the overlap of the above population groups. For example, many gay and bisexual men living with or at risk of acquiring HIV are also Black, and many Black women and men with HIV may also have substance use disorders. Another cross-cutting factor is age; there is a notable burden of HIV among youth aged 13-24 years, primarily among young gay and bisexual men.²³

Within these groups there are additional considerations for providing prevention services. Some men who have sex with men do not identify as "gay," "bisexual," or "same gender loving." Many adolescents and other young people experience periods of sexual fluidity, which can complicate targeting programs, resources, and services. Some subpopulations, such as members of the House and Ball Community, may be difficult to reach with traditional messaging and prevention efforts; however, this population still requires intentional, culturally responsive, and asset-based preventions efforts. Additionally, the differing biological, psychological, and cultural factors between women and men contribute to women's increased vulnerability to infection and affect their success at achieving viral suppression. Negotiating safer sexual practices can be especially challenging for women who may be vulnerable to IPV, or who may be economically dependent on men. Given the disparities in infection rates among Black women and Latinas when compared to White women, it is also important to consider the factors that place them at higher risk for infection.

Even when individuals in these groups do not engage in greater risk behaviors than others, they still can be more likely to become infected with HIV because of the high number of persons with HIV infection in their communities.²⁴ As a result, any instance of risk behavior carries a far greater likelihood of infection than other communities with fewer cases of HIV.

Another consideration is appropriately responding to HIV among groups that represent a small share of both the population and of HIV infections. Although it is vital to focus national efforts in communities with the highest burden, HIV prevention must continue to be supported in localities with concentrations of groups such as Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders and American Indian/Alaska Natives, and informed by the best available data.^{25, 26}

Similarly, there is a requirement to remain vigilant in monitoring infections where trends show declines in HIV, such as among women as well as persons who inject drugs.¹⁰ During 2015, the State of Indiana had an outbreak of HIV infection, largely attributed to prescription drug injection.²⁷ Funding levels must be adequate to deliver the highest impact prevention strategies to maintain low levels of transmission and to detect and respond to outbreaks in these populations when they occur.

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS

To intensify HIV prevention efforts in communities where HIV is most heavily concentrated, the following actions are needed:

1.A. 1	Allocate public funding consistent with the geographic distribution of the epidemic.	 Governments at all levels should ensure that HIV prevention funding is allocated to grantees according to the latest epidemiological data so that funds reach areas with the highest burden of disease.
1.A. 2	Focus on high-risk populations.	 Federal agencies should ensure that funding to State and local health departments and community-based organizations is allocated according to the epidemiological profile within the jurisdiction and is directed to high-risk populations accordingly.
1.A. 3	Maintain HIV prevention efforts in populations at risk but that have a low national burden of HIV.	 Federal, State, Tribal, and local agencies should make the best use of surveillance and other appropriate data, including the HIV care continuum, to characterize the burden of disease and apply high-impact prevention strategies for populations such as Asian Americans, Native Hawaiians and other Pacific Islanders, American Indians, and Alaska Natives.

POLICY AND ACTION

STEP 1.B

Expand efforts to prevent HIV infection using a combination of effective, evidence-based approaches.

The HIV epidemic has made clear that multiple, combination strategies are essential to stem the tide of new HIV infections. Simultaneously employing, scaling, and appropriately directing various scientifically proven methods will have a greater impact than any single strategy. Additional research can also help identify new prevention strategies and the most cost-effective approaches and combinations of approaches to prevent new HIV infections. Demonstration projects, such as those supported by SMAIF, are also critical for implementation of large-scale, multi-sectorial approaches to HIV prevention and care.²⁸ It is imperative to offer and fund outcomes-driven capacity building, training, and technical assistance to help ensure the successful implementation of effective programs.

Care and treatment endeavors for people living with HIV are also critical to reducing new HIV infections. It is critical to ensure that all people living with HIV know their HIV status and are linked to and maintained in high-quality care that promotes adherence to antiretroviral therapy, consistent with current clinical practice standards.²⁹ It is estimated that more than 90 percent of new HIV infections in the United States could be averted by diagnosing people living with HIV and ensuring they receive prompt, ongoing care and treatment.³⁰ These actions will reduce risk for HIV transmission, as well as improve health outcomes for persons living with HIV. The benefits of early treatment, coupled with a high proportion of late-stage HIV diagnoses, lend additional urgency to the need for early diagnosis and treatment.^{2, 10} In addition to treatment, all people who are diagnosed with HIV should receive assistance with notifying recent sex and drug-use partners of their need to get tested for HIV; have access to behavioral and biomedical interventions that have been shown to sustainably reduce the probability of transmitting HIV to others and reduce acquisition of other sexually transmitted diseases; and be screened for, and linked to, other medical and social services, that support individuals in reducing their transmission risk.³¹

In accordance with guidelines, HIV-negative people at high risk for HIV infection should be tested at least annually for HIV and STIs and screened for hepatitis B and hepatitis C virus infections, depression, and history of IPV.³²⁻³⁷ CDC recommends STI screening among MSM at risk every 3-6 months.³³ They should also have access to scientifically proven, effective biomedical and behavioral interventions that reduce the probability of HIV acquisition. In addition, people at high risk for HIV infection should be screened for and receive other medical and social services that reduce the risk of acquiring HIV, such as substance use and mental health and IPV services, as well as housing, education, and employment assistance.

Abstaining from sexual activity and substance use eliminates the risk of HIV infection through sexual or injection routes of transmission. If and when people engage in sexual activity, other approaches can lower the risk of acquiring HIV. Figure 2 shows scientifically proven biomedical and behavioral approaches that reduce the probability of HIV acquisition and transmission:

FIGURE 2: Reducing the risk of HIV transmission and acquisition

HIV TESTING

There is evidence that **people who test HIV-positive take steps to keep others from being exposed to the virus**.³⁸ People who are unaware of their HIV status miss out on the benefits from treatment, and they may unintentionally expose others to HIV. Newer HIV test technologies and diagnostic algorithms can improve ability to detect HIV infection sooner, including acute HIV infection.³⁹

PrEP and **PEP**

PrEP uses the same medicines that keep the virus under control in people who are infected with HIV to prevent HIV acquisition in those who may be exposed. **Studies have shown greater than 90 percent effectiveness of PrEP to prevent HIV infection when it is taken regularly.** U.S. Public Health Service clinical practice guidelines were released in 2014 to assist clinicians in providing PrEP and associated services to their patients at substantial risk for HIV infection.⁴⁰ There are also specific HIV medications (PEP) that a person can take immediately after being exposed to HIV that can reduce the risk of HIV infection.⁴¹

PREVENTION WITH PEOPLE WITH HIV

There are effective approaches that support people living with HIV in avoiding transmitting HIV. **Guidelines** for prevention with persons with HIV recommend 11 strategies for reducing the likelihood of HIV transmission.³¹

HIV TREATMENT AS PREVENTION

In addition to benefiting their own health and longevity, people living with HIV who adhere to effective antiretroviral therapy and have suppressed viral load can **reduce the risk of sexual transmission of HIV by 96 percent**.¹ Antiretroviral therapy for pregnant women with HIV also dramatically reduces the risk of transmission during pregnancy and childbirth.⁴²

CONDOM USE

Condom use is one of the most effective methods to reduce risk of HIV infection during sexual activity. Correct and consistent use of male condoms is estimated to **reduce the risk of HIV transmission by 70-80 percent**.^{43, 44}

ACCESS TO STERILE NEEDLES AND SYRINGES

Among persons who inject drugs, sharing needles and other drug paraphernalia increases the risk of HIV and other blood borne infections such as viral hepatitis infections. **Providing new, sterile syringes and other injection equipment to persons who inject drugs should be part of a comprehensive HIV prevention strategy**. Studies have shown that these programs substantially reduce risk of HIV infection, increase linkage to drug treatment, and **do not increase drug use**.⁴⁵

Behavioral interventions that have been proven highly effective in reducing HIV risk at the lowest cost should be prioritized, and delivered in conjunction with other effective strategies listed above.⁴⁶ Behavioral interventions that particularly support engagement in care and adherence to treatment and that enable individuals to successfully adhere to PrEP or post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP) are essential components of the effective use of these biomedical interventions.⁴⁷

Models of care are necessary to provide comprehensive screening and appropriate linkage to care for multiple factors associated with HIV—such as STIs, substance use, mental health, and IPV. For example, many new HIV infections are diagnosed in sexually transmitted disease (STD) clinics and about one in ten gay and bisexual men with syphilis or rectal gonorrhea acquire HIV within one year of their STI diagnosis.³² PrEP has also been offered through STD clinics in some jurisdictions. Care models within STD clinics that include routine screening, partner services, and provision of PrEP may be highly effective in preventing HIV, as well as preventing and treating STIs.

Funding models for prevention strategies must also be considered. One such model includes implementing sustainable HIV testing programs that involve billing insurance or Medicaid for testing in health department clinics and other health care settings (e.g., emergency departments, health centers). Integration of HIV testing into the daily practice flow in clinics and hospitals is necessary to implement sustainable testing practices that are not solely dependent on program resources. Another type of funding model is public-private partnerships, which are commonly used agreements for scaling up delivery of public services through collaboration with the private sector by leveraging resources from both. With agreements based on a set of shared objectives, these partnerships can enhance the governmental response to HIV prevention and care. An additional model is PrEP drug assistance programs, which operate similar to AIDS Drug Assistance Programs. The experiences with these models in New York State and Washington State may be applicable to other jurisdictions as they seek to increase access to PrEP programs.

Research priorities for PrEP include the development of sustained release agents and delivery systems such as injections or vaginal rings to mitigate problems with low levels of adherence to daily pill regimens and to enhance drug delivery to sites of transmission. Implementation research is needed to promote the uptake of effective program models so that PrEP can be incorporated into routine medical care and can improve the quality and effectiveness of health care for those at high risk for HIV infection. Research is also needed to identify structural interventions that are effective in reducing new infections, as well as addressing HIV-related stigma and disparities in rates of HIV infection.

Investments must be prioritized for maximum impact. Economic evaluations of HIV prevention strategies, including cost-effectiveness analyses of single and combination HIV prevention interventions, are needed to provide stakeholders with tools to set priorities and measure impact for high-risk populations. Resource allocation models are necessary to identify optimal prevention funding allocation among populations and programs to maximize the impact of HIV care and prevention at the national and local levels.⁴⁸ Cost effectiveness studies and research to develop and implement resource allocation models are needed to ensure that such tools are available to and relevant for state, Tribal and local levels.

Current approaches to preventing HIV must be coupled with research on new and innovative prevention methods that can have a long-term impact. Vaccines and microbicides are two promising biomedical approaches, but safe and effective vaccines and microbicides are not yet available and investments in research to produce effective vaccines as well as both vaginal and rectal microbicides must continue.

Another high priority is cure research, which is focused on developing strategies to eliminate viral reservoirs, or places in the body where HIV hides, to achieve lifelong remission of HIV infection. Research toward a cure is a high priority because of the continued risks for clinical complications with the use of antiretroviral therapy, the side effects of the drugs, and because the need for lifelong therapy is in itself a heavy burden on people living with HIV.

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS

To expand efforts to prevent HIV infection using a combination of effective, evidence-based approaches, the following actions are needed:

1.B. 1	Design and evaluate innovative prevention strategies and combination approaches for preventing HIV infection in high-risk populations and communities, and prioritize and promote research to fill gaps in HIV prevention science among the highest risk populations and communities.	 Government agencies should fund implementation research and demonstration projects to identify and scale prevention approaches that are cost-effective, have the greatest impact on reducing new infections, and maximize investment of HIV prevention funding. Continued support is critical for basic and applied research that provides foundations for prevention tools, programs, and services, including development of additional women-controlled prevention methods (e.g., pills, rings, gels, or injectables).
1.B. 2	Support and strengthen integrated and patient-centered HIV and related screening (STIs, substance use, mental health, IPV, viral hepatitis infections) and linkage to basic services (housing, education, employment).	 Health care providers should ensure that the services endorsed by the USPSTF at an A or B level are fully implemented for persons living with HIV and those at risk. Prevention and care programs should help people access and navigate complex insurance and medication assistance programs that help pay for these services. Federal agencies should consider additional efforts to support housing assistance and other services—such as transportation, childcare, and nutrition—that may enable people at risk for HIV to sustain risk reduction efforts, including adherence to PrEP.
1.B. 3	Expand access to effective HIV prevention services, including PrEP and PEP.	 Federal funds should support—and State, Tribal, and local governments should encourage—bringing to scale and expanding access to effective HIV prevention services that optimize investments and have the greatest potential for impact for high-risk populations. Federal, and local agencies should increase awareness of PrEP and PEP among persons at risk for HIV infection, educate and train health care providers and identify mechanisms to ensure access to PrEP and PEP for persons who can benefit most, including use of prevention funds. In accordance with Federal, State, and local laws, communities should provide new, sterile syringes and other injection equipment for persons who inject drugs and ensure access to medication-assisted therapies for persons with opioid addiction.
1.B. 4	Expand prevention with persons living with HIV.	 Health care providers should ensure rapid linkage to care at the time of HIV diagnosis, and ongoing services to support retention in care and access to interventions that address reductions in sexual and substance use risks.

POLICY AND ACTION

STEP 1.C

Educate all Americans with easily accessible, scientifically accurate information about HIV risks, prevention, and transmission.

The HIV epidemic has made clear that multiple, combination strategies are essential to stem the tide of new HIV infections. Simultaneously employing, scaling, and appropriately directing various scientifically proven methods will have a greater impact than any single strategy. Additional research can also help identify new prevention strategies and the most cost-effective approaches and combinations of approaches to prevent new HIV infections. Demonstration projects, such as those supported by the SMAIF, are also critical for implementation of large-scale, multi-sectorial approaches to HIV prevention and care.²⁸ It is imperative to offer and fund outcomesdriven capacity building, training, and technical assistance to help ensure the successful implementation of effective programs.

Achieving an end to the HIV epidemic requires widespread public support to sustain a long-term effort, which is predicated on all Americans having access to a common baseline of information about the current HIV epidemic. This includes knowing how HIV is transmitted and prevented. Today's era of HIV prevention is characterized by rapidly evolving science on the effectiveness of a range of prevention methods. People have more prevention options, and more accurate and easy-to-access digital tools, making more urgent the need for clear information to guide complex decisions.

HIV awareness and education should be universally integrated into all educational environments and health and wellness initiatives. All health and wellness practitioners (peer counselors, intake specialists, doctors, nurses, and other health professionals) must be educated about HIV, especially in programs for underserved communities, and equipped to deliver education that is culturally appropriate and inclusive of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) people. The focus of the education and awareness effort is to improve individual understanding of HIV infection, HIV-related risk factors and risk reduction, and reduce HIV-related stigma and discrimination.

It is important to educate Americans on HIV transmission routes. A 2012 Kaiser Family Foundation survey found that one in three Americans believed that HIV could be transmitted through sharing a drinking glass, touching a toilet seat, or swimming in a pool with someone who is HIV-positive.⁹ Strikingly, the percentage of the American public that holds these misperceptions has not changed since 1987. Among gay and bisexual men, a 2014 Kaiser Family Foundation survey showed, many were unaware that the number of HIV infections is increasing in their community, and few were aware that PrEP exists or is an option for their HIV prevention practices.⁴⁹

Educating the public about HIV is not simply the job of governments or schools. Over the past three decades, communities have taken it upon themselves to educate people in their areas about how HIV is and is not transmitted, and how to successfully utilize prevention tools—using destigmatizing and culturally appropriate methods. Especially in places where it is not feasible for the Federal, State, Tribal, and local governments to act, it remains the role of community-based organizations, faith-based leaders, constituent organizations, national associations, trade associations, and peer networks to provide educational materials, trainings, and digital tools for their specific community's needs.

Broader HIV education is also needed across generations. One in five new HIV diagnoses in 2013 were among persons aged 13-24 years, and 10 percent of new HIV diagnoses in 2013 occurred in persons aged 55 years and older.¹⁰ Sustained and reinforcing evidence-based education is needed to effectively encourage people across generations to take steps to reduce their risk for infection.

Educating young people about HIV before they begin engaging in behaviors that place them at risk for HIV infection should be a priority. Without question, it is the role of parents to instill values and to provide the moral and ethical foundation for their children. Parents should be equipped with information and skills to communicate effectively with their children about sexual health and substance use. Diversity in family structures—including foster families, adopted families, single-parent families, and other chosen families—also must be acknowledged to ensure access to these communication resources. Young people, no matter their circumstance, need spaces to access accurate information for their own health. In addition, schools play a fundamental role in providing current and accurate information about the biological and scientific aspects of health education. It is vital to create learning environments that are safe, inclusive, and destigmatizing, while providing access to a baseline of health information grounded in the benefits of abstinence and delaying or limiting sexual activity, and ensuring that young people who are sexually active have the information and tools they need to prevent infections.

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS

To educate all Americans with easily accessible, scientifically accurate information about HIV risks, prevention, and transmission, the following actions are needed:

1.C. 1	Provide clear, specific, consistent, and scientifically up-to-date messages about HIV risks and prevention strategies.	 Government, schools, faith leaders, national associations and community- based organizations should make information about HIV risks and prevention strategies easily available to the public. The information should be used to develop and disseminate education campaigns, prevention programs, and risk assessment tools.
1.C. 2	Utilize evidence-based social marketing and education campaigns, and leverage digital tools and new technologies.	 Outreach and engagement through multiple media channels must be increased by both the public and private sectors to educate and engage the public about how HIV is transmitted and prevented. It is critical to utilize digital tools and new technologies, such as social media and popular mobile apps, to enable the American people to access high-quality HIV information anywhere, anytime, on any device.
1.C. 3	Promote age-appropriate HIV and STI prevention education for all Americans.	 Agencies and schools should ensure that programs for youth are age- and developmentally-appropriate, and culturally competent, including those designed for LGBT youth. To impact policies at the local level, concerned community members should engage with the sexual education councils of their local school boards.
1.C. 4	Expand public outreach, education, and prevention efforts on HIV and intersecting issues, such as IPV.	• Empowering youth with scientifically accurate information about their physical health and social and emotional well-being must continue to be part of a comprehensive approach by governments, faith-based institutions, schools and communities to prevention and responding to HIV and violence; reaching Black and Latina women and girls should be a priority.
1.C. 5	Tackle misperceptions, stigma, and discrimination to break down barriers to HIV prevention, testing, and care.	 Federal and state governments should ensure that Federal and state criminal laws reflect current scientific information regarding HIV transmission and prevention. Federal agencies should ensure application of anti-stigma civil rights messages in Federal documents and programs, and ensure messages about protections against discrimination and health information privacy rights are incorporated into their educational campaigns.

26 NATIONAL HIV/AIDS STRATEGY: UPDATED TO 2020

GOAL 2: INCREASING ACCESS TO CARE AND IMPROVING HEALTH OUTCOMES FOR PEOPLE LIVING WITH HIV

THE OPPORTUNITY

The only way that health outcomes for people living with HIV will improve is to squarely focus on treatment and care. This requires continued focus on the HIV continuum of care, ensuring capacity of the health care workforce and systems, and supporting comprehensive coordinated care for people living with HIV. The Nation has seen great progress in this area, in large part due to scientific advances and scaling up delivery of services.

Activities that have contributed to success in HIV care and treatment include:

- Availability of **highly effective antiretroviral therapies** that have dramatically reduced the death rate among people living with HIV infection;
- Ongoing bipartisan support for the **Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program (RWHAP)**, which works with cities, states, and local community-based organizations to provide a comprehensive system of care, takes a public health approach to provide medical care and essential support services to people living with HIV who do not have sufficient health care coverage or financial resources to cope with HIV disease, and provides care completion coverage to more than 500,000 people living with HIV;
- Ongoing bipartisan support for the Housing Opportunities for Persons With AIDS (HOPWA) program, through which the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) makes grants to local communities, States, and nonprofit organizations for projects that provide supportive housing to benefit low-income persons living with HIV/AIDS and their families; and
- Enactment of the **Affordable Care Act**, which put into place reforms to improve affordable health coverage and protect consumers from abusive insurance company practices

Since the National HIV/AIDS Strategy was released, there have been significant scientific advances and major policy shifts. Milestones during this period include:

- Strong scientific evidence of the benefits of early treatment from the START study, which showed that starting antiretroviral treatment early significantly reduces the risk that people living with HIV will develop AIDS or other serious illnesses, and from HPTN 052, which showed that antiretroviral treatment reduces the risk of transmitting HIV to uninfected partners. This research supports changes in treatment guidelines that recommend initiating antiretroviral therapy for all people diagnosed with HIV infection.^{1, 2}
- Enhanced focus on the HIV care continuum to monitor progress in HIV prevention, care, and treatment and the related Executive Order establishing the HIV Care Continuum Initiative that focuses Federal resources on diagnosis, linkage to care, retention, adherence, and viral suppression.^{50, 51}
- Broad implementation of the Affordable Care Act, resulting in increased health care coverage, inability to be denied coverage for pre-existing conditions, and preventive care coverage that includes HIV testing.

To continue this progress and achieve the goal of increasing access to care and improving health outcomes for people living with HIV, the following challenges must be addressed:

- Nationally, too few people living with HIV are retained in care or have achieved viral suppression, particularly youth.⁸
- Although thousands of people living with HIV have benefited from the reforms of the Affordable Care Act, the cost sharing (e.g. co-pays, deductibles) in some plans renders care out of reach for many.
- Changes in the HIV workforce and ways that HIV care is delivered increase the need for re-thinking
 practice models and provision of training and education, including cultural competency to better serve
 clients based on their race/ethnicity, gender and gender identity, sexual orientation, or socio-economic
 backgrounds.
- Researchers have documented multiple barriers to engagement in care for women living with HIV, including that about 30 percent of women with HIV currently live with post-traumatic stress disorder.^{52, 53}
- Many people living with HIV have other co-occurring conditions including substance use and mental health disorders, homelessness, other infectious diseases such as STIs or viral hepatitis, and chronic conditions making engagement in HIV care and adherence to treatment more challenging.
- Physical barriers to care, such as access to transportation, still prohibit many from accessing medical and other services, particularly in rural areas.

The Affordable Care Act has strengthened the health care system and extended health care coverage to more than 16 million Americans, including thousands of people living with HIV. An analysis of the impact of the Affordable Care Act on persons living with HIV estimated that of 70,000 persons with HIV who were uninsured in 2009, approximately 47,000 would be newly eligible for Medicaid if all States chose to expand their Medicaid programs and almost 23,000 would qualify for subsidized private coverage in the Health Insurance Marketplace.⁵⁴ Indeed, early evaluations suggest that the Affordable Care Act's health insurance expansions, through Medicaid and the Marketplace, are already playing an important role in the lives of many people living with HIV who report gaining new coverage and access to needed services.⁵⁵

Even with the Affordable Care Act's reforms, however, the RWHAP remains critical to support a comprehensive system of care, taking a public health approach to improve health outcomes. The RWHAP continues to be a critical source of care and treatment for people living with HIV who remain ineligible for health care coverage. Those who have coverage, but experience gaps or other barriers rely on the RWHAP for premium and cost-

sharing assistance so that cost does not become a barrier to continuous HIV care. Access to treatment can be difficult due to the high cost of care, which makes health care coverage or RWHAP services a necessity. On average, HIV therapy costs approximately \$25,000 per year, and medications are only one portion of a person's total health care needs; the lifetime cost of treating a person with HIV infection is estimated to be \$250,000 to \$400,000.^{56, 57}

The AIDS Drug Assistance Program is another critical component of the RWHAP to support those in need of financial assistance for medications. Finally, the RWHAP is vital for accessing needed HIV services not covered by insurance. The RWHAP touches the lives of about half of all people living with HIV in the United States, supporting the health care system to achieve higher rates of sustained HIV viral suppression. Doing so not only improves the health outcomes for individuals with HIV, it serves the public health benefit of helping to prevent HIV transmission.

People living with HIV may also have other significant challenges. Many people living with HIV have cooccurring conditions, such as heart disease, depression or other mental health problems, or substance use disorders, as well as other STIs and viral hepatitis infections.⁵⁸ In addition, poverty, unemployment, intimate partner violence, unstable housing including homelessness, hunger, lack of access to transportation, and other issues can prevent people from accessing health care. There are also differences in health care access and treatment outcomes by race/ethnicity, gender, age, and geography. Continued research is critical to develop safer, less expensive, and more effective treatments and drug regimens, as well as to evaluate new ways to meet HIV treatment needs while also responding to co-occurring conditions or other barriers to care.

Addressing these overlapping issues, requires expansion of approaches to connecting people to services and keeping them in care, which facilitates their achievement of greater holistic health. The development of new models of care—especially those that integrate HIV prevention, care, and supportive services—is needed.

SUMMARY OF STEPS

It is vital to pursue a concerted national effort to engage people living with HIV in care. The following steps are critical to achieving success:

STEP 2.A	Establish seamless systems to link people to care immediately after diagnosis and support retention in care to achieve viral suppression that can maximize the benefits of early treatment and reduce transmission risk.
STEP 2.B	Take deliberate steps to increase the capacity of systems as well as the number and diversity of available providers of clinical care and related services for people living with HIV.
STEP 2.C	Support comprehensive, coordinated patient-centered care for people living with HIV, including addressing HIV-related co-occurring conditions and challenges meeting basic needs, such as housing.

INDICATORS OF PROGRESS

Working together on these critical steps, we aim to meet the following targets by 2020:

P	INDICATOR 4	Increase the percentage of newly diagnosed persons linked to HIV medical care within one month of their HIV diagnosis to at least 85 percent .
	INDICATOR 5	Increase the percentage of persons with diagnosed HIV infection who are retained in HIV medical care to at least 90 percent .
	INDICATOR 6	Increase the percentage of persons with diagnosed HIV infection who are virally suppressed to at least 80 percent .
	INDICATOR 7	Reduce the percentage of persons in HIV medical care who are homeless to no more than 5 percent .
	INDICATOR 8	Reduce the death rate among persons with diagnosed HIV infection by at least 33 percent .

POLICY AND ACTION

STEP 2.A

Establish seamless systems to link people to care immediately after diagnosis and support retention in care to achieve viral suppression that can maximize the benefits of early treatment and reduce transmission risk.

Achieving optimal health outcomes requires that people are identified soon after their HIV infection and systems are in place to link them to care immediately. This is particularly important given that an estimated 156,300 people do not know they are living with HIV, and, therefore, are not receiving regular medical care to manage the disease.⁸ Current HIV treatment guidelines note that HIV medications benefit all persons diagnosed with HIV, which underscores the benefits of early detection.²⁹ New HIV testing technologies and laboratory diagnostic algorithms allow for earlier detection of HIV, including diagnosis of acute HIV infection, and may help improve health outcomes and reduce transmission.³⁹

The USPSTF recommends that clinicians screen for HIV infection in all adolescents and adults aged 15 to 65 years, and offer repeat testing to those at increased risk.³² People who receive a diagnosis of HIV infection need to be connected to appropriate clinical care, prevention services, and supportive services. It is essential to provide linkage coordination when and where HIV screening services are provided to help overcome barriers to obtaining care as soon as possible after diagnosis. Given the benefits of early treatment, some clinics have adopted programs that link persons to care the same day or within a few days; these programs can be particularly effective when implemented for persons diagnosed with acute infection.⁵⁹

Integrating HIV treatment services with other services that are accessed by people living with HIV can improve diagnosis and treatment for co-occurring conditions such as STIs, viral hepatitis, and substance use
or mental health disorders.⁶⁰ For example, SAMHSA has supported integration through co-location of HIV prevention and care services with substance abuse treatment programs and community mental health programs.⁶¹ Integration of services is an important element of a strategy to better meet the HIV prevention and care needs of people living in rural or under-resourced areas. It also enables providers to take a more holistic approach to health, rather than focusing only on HIV. Some of the same behaviors that prevent HIV infection also will prevent STIs and viral hepatitis infections.

It should be noted that being linked to care is not enough: those in care must be supported to stay in care over time. Many of the approaches for linkage to care can be continued to support retention in care. Helping persons to enroll in and navigate health care coverage or medical assistance programs that provide HIV care or cover costs of care and treatment may be needed to support retention in care.

Equally important is the need to re-engage people diagnosed with HIV who have subsequently fallen out of care. In 2012, only 39 percent of all persons living with HIV infection were engaged in care.⁸ "Data to care" strategies may be applied to identify and re-engage persons in care, and have shown to be effective in improving care continuum outcomes.⁷³ Clinical decision support tools may also be helpful to identify persons out of care. Retention in care is critical for achieving and sustaining viral suppression.

Figure 3 displays the HIV care continuum for 2012. This continuum gives a national snapshot of all people living with HIV infection,

DRUG TREATMENT AS PREVENTION

Research has provided evidence that treatment for substance use disorders is an effective HIV prevention intervention. For example. patients receiving methadone for their opiate use disorders were found to significantly reduce the frequency of their opiate use.⁶²⁻⁶⁵ Data suggests that with decreases in opiate use reductions in opiate injection and needle sharing events are also observed.⁶⁶⁻⁶⁹ Other drugs effective in the treatment of opioid related substance use disorders have also been found to reduce HIVrisk factors.⁷⁰ For Buprenorphine, reductions in HIV-risk behaviors were observed. Naltrexone has also shown to reduce significant opiate (heroin) use and HIV-risk behaviors.⁷¹ Moreover, medication assisted treatment for opioid use disorders substantially increases the odds of adherence to HIV Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART).⁷²

meaning those who have been diagnosed and those who have not yet been diagnosed.



FIGURE 3: The HIV care continuum among persons living with HIV infection in the United States 2012⁸

* Diagnosed is a calculated estimate based on data reported to the National HIV Surveillance System, the denominator is the estimated number of persons living with HIV (1.2 million).
 ** Linkage to care is the percentage of persons linked to medical care within 3 months after diagnosis (numerator) among those newly diagnosed in 2012

(denominator). Data are from 28 jurisdictions with complete reporting of CD4 and viral load test results to CDC.

*** Engaged in care, prescribed ART and virally suppressed data (numerators) come from the Medical Monitoring Project and based on people who had at least one HIV care visit during January to April 2012. The dominator is the estimated number of persons living with HIV (1.2 million).

The particular needs of those in the criminal justice system are challenging for maintaining ongoing HIV care.⁷⁴ Those who are incarcerated may encounter difficulty accessing HIV medications, especially those in jails or short-term detention. Strong linkages to new health homes and supportive services are needed as part of reentry programs for persons with HIV who are being released from correctional facilities, including enrollment for disability or Medicaid prior to release and referral to substance use and mental health services and medical care. During incarceration, many correctional facilities do not provide medication-assisted treatment for people with opioid dependence, leaving them vulnerable to both overdose and relapse upon re-entry to the community. Facilitating initial appointments post-release and comprehensive case management help ensure better health outcomes related to HIV infection and treatment for substance use disorders.

In addition, people living with HIV need ongoing support to maintain the necessary high levels of adherence to antiretroviral treatment to achieve and maintain viral suppression. Implementation research, to learn how to scale up effective programs and incorporate them into clinical practice, is needed for adherence interventions. Government, academic, and pharmaceutical industry research has provided simpler, more easily tolerated therapies than the initial generation of effective antiretroviral therapies. However: safer, more potent, and more durable treatments are still needed, as is a better understanding of how to manage the clinical complications and consequences of HIV infection and long-term use of antiretroviral drugs.

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS

To establish seamless systems to link people to care immediately after diagnosis, and support retention in care to achieve viral suppression that can maximize the benefits of early treatment and reduce transmission risk, the following actions are needed:

2.A. 1	Ensure continuity of high-quality comprehensive health care coverage to support access to HIV care.	 Federal and state governments should ensure access to appropriate HIV treatment by promoting unimpeded coverage of all HIV medications included in the HHS HIV Treatment Guidelines. Health care coverage programs should maximize HIV prevention by including the use of antiretrovirals for PrEP. People living with HIV should be supported to select the health care coverage that best meets their care and treatment needs.
2.A. 2	Ensure linkage to HIV medical care and improve retention in care for people living with HIV.	 HIV resources and efforts from the public and private sectors should be directed to bring to scale evidence-based strategies that ensure immediate linkage to and retention in HIV care.
	WICH HIV.	 Clinical care providers should ensure that all persons with HIV have access to antiretroviral therapy and are retained in care as recommended by the HHS HIV Treatment Guidelines.

2.A. 3	Support and strengthen capacity to implement innovative and culturally appropriate models to more effectively deliver care along the care continuum.	 Federal agencies should support the development of new models that effectively diagnose and care for people living with HIV, and support innovation and rigorous evaluation of new delivery models that are responsive to the changing healthcare environment. These models should provide culturally and developmentally appropriate services for populations such as gay and bisexual men, youth, older people living with HIV, racial and ethnic minorities, and transgender people.
		 Care specific to the needs of women should be offered in HIV primary care service-delivery settings to ensure their retention in HIV care and treatment. Federal agencies should encourage the development and implementation of emerging digital tools and technologies to improve outcomes at all points along the continuum of care.
2.A. 4	Prioritize and promote research to fill gaps in knowledge along the care continuum.	 Federal agencies need to develop and test new approaches that are scalable, sustainable, and engage populations at greatest risk of HIV. Federal agencies should support new basic scientific research to develop more robust HIV prevention and treatment regimens that are effective and decrease the current burden of adherence.
2.A. 5	Provide information, resources, and technical assistance to strengthen the delivery of services along the care continuum, particularly at the State, Tribal, and local levels.	 Federal agencies should extend assistance to state and local partners to help support, scale up, and integrate care continuum improvement efforts that drive change at an accelerated pace. The Federal government should support ongoing development and reporting of core HIV quality measures.

POLICY AND ACTION

STEP 2.B

Take deliberate steps to increase the capacity of systems as well as the number and diversity of available providers of clinical care and related services for people living with HIV.

Meaningful improvement in health outcomes requires adoption of policies that will produce a diverse workforce large enough to care for all people living with and at risk for HIV and that has the appropriate training and technical expertise to provide high-quality care consistent with the latest prevention and treatment guidelines. Also needed are health care systems and public health systems that have the capacity to provide care in a non-stigmatizing manner and create relationships of trust with their patients. Efforts to strengthen systems capacity and expand the HIV workforce should focus on the geographic areas where the need is greatest. The Affordable Care Act provides policies and resources to address these issues. In addition, the scope and mission of the AIDS Education and Training Centers, part of the RWHAP, and CDC's HIV Prevention Capacity Building Assistance Centers focus on improving outcomes along the care continuum.^{75, 76}

For too long, the Nation has suffered from a shortage of primary care health professionals. In addition, the provider workforce of physicians, nurses, and other health professionals who specialize in HIV care is aging, and new recruits are needed to address the impending workforce shortage. The Affordable Care Act, with its investments in the National Health Service Corps, is helping to alleviate primary care workforce shortages in underserved areas. Increased funding to HRSA's Health Center Program also expands the opportunities for

integrating HIV testing, prevention, care, and treatment services into primary care. To be effective, however, these primary care providers need to be experienced HIV providers or have an established source for clinical consultation or referral to assist in managing patients with complex cases.⁷⁷ Training, task shifting, and use of interdisciplinary health teams all can assist in addressing HIV workforce shortages. Many organizations have demonstrated successful models for including peer navigators—who are themselves living with HIV—in clinical and community settings to support engagement in care.⁷⁸ Regardless of the specific approach, it is critical that the HIV care model meshes seamlessly with the necessary workflow.

Access to substance use treatment for people who inject drugs is also affected by workforce capacity. Many people who inject prescription drugs reside in rural communities without access to evidence-based substance use disorder treatment providers who can provide medication assisted treatment for opioid use disorder.⁷⁹

Health care services that are respectful of and responsive to the health beliefs, practices, and cultural and linguistic needs of diverse patients can also help bring about positive health outcomes.⁸⁰ Responsive services will also recognize and support variable and episodic needs across the lifespan for people living with, or at risk for, HIV infection, recognizing that key populations, including heterosexual women, transgender women, youth, older people living with HIV, gay men, and others may have unique or specialized needs that require more tailored approaches. Many people living with HIV come from communities that have historically been poorly served by mainstream health care systems. For example, among some African Americans, there is mistrust of the medical establishment, and it may lead some to question clinical recommendations that are widely accepted by others.⁸¹ Medical providers may not be comfortable taking a sexual history from LGBT patients, which could interfere with appropriate care. Similarly, gay men report being uncomfortable talking with their doctors about their sexual behaviors.^{82, 49}

Health care systems are particularly challenged to provide competent care to transgender individuals. There is a dearth of health care staff equipped to provide care with respect for the unique circumstances of their transgender patients. This can result in lower satisfaction with their care providers, less trust, and poorer health outcomes.⁸³

In addition to having HIV expertise, care providers should be culturally competent and able to clearly and effectively communicate to help their patients understand the benefits of following recommended treatment plans. Building pipeline programs into the health care professions for people of color and those in poverty can improve culturally competent care as well as help achieve health equity.

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS

To take deliberate steps to increase the capacity of systems as well as the number and diversity of available providers of clinical care and related services for people living with HIV, the following actions are needed:

2.B.1 Increase the number of available providers of HIV care.

- Federal, State, Tribal, and local agencies should develop strategies for encouraging more clinicians to provide HIV services.
- Federally-supported programs should encourage health care delivery strategies that extend the capacity of the existing workforce of HIV specialists.

2.B. 2	Strengthen the current provider workforce to ensure access to and quality of care.	 Federal agencies should engage clinical providers and professional medical societies on the importance of routine HIV screening. Federal agencies and health care delivery systems should support the integration of high-quality HIV services into health centers and other primary care settings by providing routine HIV screening, basic HIV care and treatment, referrals for more complex HIV care and treatment, and coordination of care across settings and providers.
2.B. 3	Support screening for and referral to substance use and mental health services for people living with HIV.	 HIV medical care providers and agencies offering substance use and mental health services should increase collaboration to ensure identification of and treatment for these conditions among persons living with HIV, including increased use of brief screening tools, delivery of medication-assisted treatment, and parity in coverage for mental health and substance use treatment services.

POLICY AND ACTION

STEP 2.C

Support comprehensive, coordinated patient-centered care for people living with HIV, including addressing HIV-related co-occurring conditions and challenges meeting basic needs, such as housing.

To support the provision of quality care for people living with HIV, it is important to reduce barriers that impede access to services. The RWHAP has supported the development of medical homes for people living with HIV for 25 years. This program has valuable experiences to share with other providers, including health centers and private physicians.

Patient-centered care—defined by the Institute of Medicine as health care that establishes a partnership among practitioners, patients, and their families (when appropriate) to ensure that decisions respect patients' wants, needs, and preferences—should be the standard. In addition to ensuring that clinical care services are well-coordinated, non-medical services and assistance to meet basic needs are important supports for achieving optimal clinical outcomes. Access to medical treatment should be supplemented with ongoing case management services to facilitate continuity of care. Basic needs such as housing, education, and employment, and supportive services such as transportation, legal assistance, nutrition services, and child-care are essential for certain populations that face difficulties with everyday needs.

Access to housing is an important precursor to getting many people into a stable treatment regimen. Individuals living with HIV who lack stable housing are more likely to delay HIV care, have poorer access to regular care, are less likely to receive optimal antiretroviral therapy, and are less likely to adhere to therapy. A 2014 HUD white paper, *HIV Care Continuum: The Connection between Housing and Improved Outcomes along the HIV Care Continuum*, reviewed the evidence for the associations between housing and outcomes along each step of the care continuum that can result in reducing both new HIV infections and homelessness.⁸⁴ Additionally, to specifically address distinct needs of vulnerable populations, the DOJ and HUD are collaborating on a project to expressly support transitional housing for low-income persons living with HIV who have experienced domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking.⁵¹

People have competing demands, including challenges meeting their basic needs for housing, food, and childcare, which often contribute to poorer HIV outcomes. Access to legal services can be important to help

people resolve issues with discrimination, access to public benefits (including health care coverage), and employment and other issues that can create serious barriers to staying in care. Support from social workers or case managers can help with identifying resources. Peer networks among people living with HIV can also be valuable for information sharing and other support. Programs that provide family-centered care can be especially important for women living with HIV. Further, both women and men with HIV can be at risk for intimate partner violence and post-traumatic stress disorder, which can impede adherence and stability in care. The principles of a trauma-informed approach to care, which seek to minimize the chances of re-traumatizing someone who is trying to heal, may be applicable in HIV care settings.^{52, 53}

In developing ways to improve delivery of care for people with basic needs and with other circumstances affecting care, including people in or transitioning from correctional settings, people living in remote or rural areas, and youth, it will be important to disseminate effective models to enable other providers to better serve those groups and overcome common barriers to care.

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS

To support comprehensive, coordinated, patient-centered care for people living with HIV, including addressing HIV-related co-occurring conditions and challenges meeting basic needs such as housing, the following actions are needed:

2.C. 1	Address policies to promote access to housing and other basic needs and other supportive services for people living with HIV.	á 1	Federal agencies should consider additional efforts to support housing assistance and other services—such as transportation, childcare, and nutrition—that enable people living with HIV to obtain and adhere to HIV treatment.
		(Programs and health care settings should support case management for clinical and non-medical services that contribute to improving health outcomes for people living with HIV, including rehabilitative employment services.
			Federal efforts should be enhanced to address HIV and IPV among homeless and marginally housed women and girls.
		t]	Partnerships between housing programs and other service organizations that provide their clients with HIV testing and linkage to care should be supported at all levels. Housing services and clinical care should be aligned to achieve improved health outcomes.
2.C. 2	Improve outcomes for women in HIV care by addressing violence and trauma and factors that increase risk of violence for women and girls living with HIV.	t = 7 t	Federal agencies should support research on, and evaluation of, programs that provide trauma-informed care as part of HIV care for women. Trauma and violence experienced by young gay and bisexual men and transgender women also should be addressed by research studies and programmatic activities.

GOAL 3: REDUCING HIV-RELATED DISPARITIES AND HEALTH INEQUITIES THE OPPORTUNITY

Reducing HIV-related health disparities and inequities must be a central priority of the overall Strategy. The Affordable Care Act offers that a group is a health disparity population when "there is a significant disparity in the overall rate of disease incidence, prevalence, morbidity, mortality, or survival rates in the population as compared to the health status of the general population." To address disparities requires focusing on disproportionately affected communities and populations; implementing structural approaches to HIV prevention and care that address conditions such as housing, education, employment, and food security; and reducing stigma and eliminating discrimination associated with HIV infection.

Milestones during the last several years include:

- **Implementation of the Affordable Care Act**, the broadest Federal effort, to date, to address health inequities, which includes various non-discrimination statutes for treatment and care coverage.
- **Changes in state laws** to decriminalize behavior like spitting and biting by people living with HIV that are known to pose minimal risk for HIV transmission.
- Enactment of policies that reduce HIV stigma and discrimination, such as lifting of the entry ban to allow people living with HIV the ability to travel to the United States and immigrate without needing a waiver.⁸⁵
- Elimination of health disparities in some health care settings demonstrates that reducing disparities is achievable.⁸⁶

Despite many advances—scientific, political, and social—over the last five years, large disparities remain. To achieve the goal of reducing HIV-related disparities and health inequities, the following challenges must be addressed:

- A national response to the HIV epidemic must be mindful of the size and diversity of the country, as well as the needs of the most affected communities.
- Health care systems and social structures that provide varying access to HIV services to different groups who then may achieve varying health outcomes.
- New HIV diagnoses are increasing among gay and bisexual men. Black women account for 64 percent of new diagnoses among women. Differences in diagnosis rates vary considerably by region.¹⁰

 People around the country report that stigma and discrimination, associated with HIV status or receiving HIV-related services, are still rampant, and continue to adversely impact access to care and health outcomes.

SUMMARY OF STEPS

A concerted national effort to increase the capacity of all communities to prevent HIV and support community members living with HIV is needed. The following steps are critical to achieve success:

STEP 3.A	Reduce HIV-related disparities in communities at high risk for HIV infection.
STEP 3.B	Adopt structural approaches to reduce HIV infections and improve health outcomes in high-risk communities.
STEP 3.C	Reduce stigma and eliminate discrimination associated with HIV status.

INDICATORS OF PROGRESS

Working together on these critical steps, we aim to meet the following targets by 2020:

ŤŤŤ	INDICATOR 9	Reduce disparities in the rate of new diagnoses by at least 15 percent in the following groups: gay and bisexual men, young Black gay and bisexual men, Black females, and persons living in the Southern United States.
	INDICATOR 10	Increase the percentage of youth and persons who inject drugs with diagnosed HIV infection who are virally suppressed to at least 80 percent .

POLICY AND ACTION

STEP 3.A > Reduce HIV-related disparities in communities at high risk for HIV infection.

Significant racial disparities in HIV infection exist in the United States (see Figure 4). There are also racial/ ethnic disparities along the care continuum and in premature death. According to the most recent HIV care continuum data, Blacks had lower percentages than Whites of HIV diagnosis and successful viral suppression.⁸ Disparities along the HIV care continuum and in rates of death might reflect differences in access to and use of health care and treatment. Efforts to address underlying social determinants of health, such as increased access to health care and supportive services, could increase timely HIV diagnosis, retention in care, treatment, and viral suppression. Increasing the number of people living with HIV in heavily affected communities who achieve and maintain viral suppression may reduce disparities in HIV infection rates and mortality in these groups.



FIGURE 4: Rates of diagnoses of HIV Infection among adults and adolescents by race/ethnicity, 2013 – United States¹⁰

Even though deaths among persons with HIV have been declining since the availability of effective antiretroviral medications, the death rate per 1,000 persons living with HIV in 2012 among Blacks (20.5) was higher than the rate for Whites (18.1) and the rate for Latinos (13.9).⁸⁷ Racial disparities in death rates among gay men with HIV also exist, with higher death rates among Black and Latino gay men compared to White men.⁸⁸ Death rates also vary by state, with many of the highest rates concentrated in the Southern U.S.⁸⁷

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS

To reduce HIV-related disparities in communities at high risk for HIV infection, the following actions are needed:

3.A. 1	Expand services to reduce HIV-related disparities experienced by gay and bisexual men (especially young Black gay and bisexual men), Black women, and persons living in the Southern United States.	Communities must be supported by the public and private sectors to ensure that groups at highest risk receive HIV testing, and that those diagnosed with HIV are linked to and retained in care to achieve viral suppression, and that those testing negative are linked to ongoing prevention services, such as PrEP. The Federal government should develop and support initiatives, including demonstration projects funded by the HHS SMAIF, designed to foster and facilitate collaborative linkages between researchers, service providers, and Black women and girls at-risk for or living with HIV to address critical social determinants of health such as poverty, violence, mental health and substance use issues which make women vulnerable to HIV and adversely impact the survival rates of women living with HIV. These factors also contribute to disparities seen among gay and bisexual men and persons living in the Southern United States.
3.A. 2	Support engagement in care for groups with low levels of viral suppression, including youth and persons who inject drugs.	Communities should engage all sectors to ensure consumers and providers are aware of opportunities and structures available in health care delivery and financing to address HIV risk and improve health outcomes. The Federal government should support implementation research as critical to improving health outcomes by adopting effective models of care and ensuring those models are culturally appropriate to reach groups at highest risk.

POLICY AND ACTION

STEP 3.B

Adopt structural approaches to reduce HIV infections and improve health outcomes in high-risk communities.

To reduce disparities among groups, effective approaches are required to reduce the risk of HIV transmission not only at the individual level, but also at the community and societal levels as well. HIV is often only one of many conditions that adversely affects communities at greater risk for HIV infection. In many cases, it is not possible to effectively address HIV transmission or care without also addressing structural factors and social determinants of health, such as poverty, lack of education, unemployment, homelessness and other issues.^{89,90} Because of these many co-occurring issues, it is important to employ a biopsychosocial approach to HIV prevention and care that extends beyond an individual's risk behaviors. Factors such as HIV and STI rates in sexual and drug use networks, and joblessness or homelessness that can increase risk for infection or suboptimal access to care must be addressed. Although there have been some successful efforts in this regard, there are too few proven models associated with reducing HIV incidence or increasing access to care that have a focus on broader social determinants and structural factors that influence health outcomes.

Comprehensive sexual education for school-aged youth, an important example of a structural intervention, has not been brought to scale across the country, with only some jurisdictions providing fundamental and essential health and risk-behavior education to their students. To improve outcomes for youth along the HIV care continuum, young people must understand the benefits of early diagnosis as well as staying engaged in care and adhering to treatment.

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS

To adopt structural approaches to reduce HIV infections and improve health outcomes in high-risk communities, the following actions are needed:

3.B. 1	Scale up effective, evidence-based programs that address social determinants of health.	 Federal agencies should support research and implementation of structural interventions that reduce the risk of infection in high-prevalence communities. Such programs must address the broader context of people's lives that increases their risk for HIV infection and puts those living with HIV at risk for poor health outcomes, with a particular need among young, Black gay and bisexual men.
3.B. 2	Support research to better understand the scope of the intersection of HIV and violence against women and girls, and develop effective interventions.	 To effectively address this intersection, it is imperative that governments support efforts to better quantify the degree to which violence is independently contributing to new HIV infections and poor care outcomes among women and girls.

POLICY AND ACTION

STEP 3.C

Reduce stigma and eliminate discrimination associated with HIV status.

Stigma is an attitude of disapproval and discontent towards an individual or group from other individuals or community and public institutions because of the presence of an attribute perceived as undesirable. Stigma can factor into individual interactions and affect larger societal and institutional forces. Discrimination can be a consequence of stigma and may occur when unfair actions are made against individuals on the basis of their belonging to a particular stigmatized group.⁹¹ HIV-related stigma can be confounded with or made more complicated by stigma related to substance use, mental health, sexual orientation, gender identity, race/ethnicity, or sex work. Stigma can lead to many negative consequences for people living with HIV. It is imperative that all levels of government recognize these various biases exist and work to combat stigma and discrimination in order to reduce new infections and improve health outcomes for people living with HIV.

More than 30 years after the first cases of AIDS were identified, people living with HIV still face discrimination in many areas of life including employment, housing, provision of health care services, and public accommodations. This discrimination undermines efforts to encourage all people to learn their HIV status, and makes it harder for people to disclose their HIV status to their medical providers, their sex and needle-sharing partners, and even clergy and others whom they may turn to for understanding and support.

Many people feel shame and embarrassment when they are diagnosed with HIV infection. And, there is still too much social stigma assigning blame to people who acquire HIV, and even for those who are actively seeking to prevent themselves from becoming infected. Creating safe spaces where all individuals feel accepted and respected will enable more individuals to get tested for HIV, enter and stay in care when diagnosed, adhere to medication regimens, and adopt prevention measures, including disclosing their HIV status. Reducing stigma for other conditions common among persons at risk for or living with HIV—such as substance use, mental health problems, and homelessness—and addressing homophobia are also important efforts to improve health outcomes. However, promotion of disclosure of HIV status must be accompanied by protections for people living with HIV. This calls for a continued commitment to civil rights enforcement.

The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), whose twenty-fifth anniversary occurred in 2015, is the landmark civil rights law that has proven so vital to the protection of people with disabilities, including HIV. To be free of discrimination on the basis of HIV status is both a human and a civil right. Proactive enforcement of the ADA, the Fair Housing Act, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and other civil rights laws is vital to establishing an environment where people will feel safe to get tested and seek treatment. People are encouraged to file an ADA complaint if they experience disability discrimination, including any complaint alleging violations against people living with HIV, against a State, Tribal, or local government or a place of public accommodation. When people do seek coverage and treatment, provisions of the Affordable Care Act also guard against discrimination based on pre-existing conditions and promote parity in mental health and substance use treatment.

Laws and policies across the Nation should reflect current public health best practices for preventing and treating HIV. State laws that criminalize behaviors like spitting and biting that are known to pose minimal

risk for HIV transmission should be dealt with in a consistent manner. HIV-specific laws do not influence the behavior of people living with HIV in those States where these laws exist.⁹² DOJ issued best practice guidance for States that wish to reform their HIV-specific criminal statutes, and legislators should reconsider whether existing laws continue to further the public interest and public health.⁹³ In too many instances, the existence and enforcement of these types of laws run counter to scientific evidence about routes of HIV transmission and effective measures of HIV prevention, and undermine the public health goals of promoting HIV screening and treatment.⁹⁴ In jurisdictions where HIV-specific laws remain, prosecutors should also execute more discretion in dismissing blatantly stigmatizing and discriminatory cases against people living with HIV.

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS

To reduce stigma and eliminate discrimination associated with HIV status, the following actions are needed:

3.C. 1	Promote evidence-based public health approaches to HIV prevention and care.	• State legislatures should review HIV-specific criminal statutes to ensure that they are consistent with current scientific knowledge of HIV transmission and support public health approaches to preventing and treating HIV.
		 Federal agencies, local health departments, and community-based efforts should be coordinated and strengthened to dismantle discrimination in clinical settings.
		 Broad-based efforts to reduce stigma of common co-occurring conditions for people at risk for and living with HIV, such as substance use and mental health disorders, viral hepatitis, and sexually transmitted infections, should be enhanced.
3.C. 2	Strengthen enforcement of civil rights laws, and assist States in protecting people living with HIV from violence, retaliation, and discrimination associated with HIV status.	 DOJ and other Federal agencies must prioritize enforcement of Federal anti- discrimination laws that protect people based on HIV status, and should proactively outreach to localities around the country where discrimination, blatant or subtle, may exist against people living with HIV. Federal and State governments must also protect against discrimination in drug pricing and insurance coverage for persons living with HIV.
3.C. 3	Mobilize communities to reduce HIV-related stigma.	 Governments at all levels must support efforts to increase community mobilization, especially to address HIV among LGBT people, including within faith-based communities.
		 Federal agencies should support research to better measure and address stigma in the community and health care systems.
3.C. 4	Promote public leadership of people living with HIV.	 Governments and other institutions (including HIV prevention community planning groups and Ryan White planning councils and consortia) should work with networks of people living with HIV, service organizations, and other institutions to actively promote public leadership by people living with HIV, including women, gay and bisexual men, racial/ethnic minorities, transgender people, and youth.

GOAL 4: ACHIEVING A MORE COORDINATED NATIONAL RESPONSE TO THE HIV EPIDEMIC THE OPPORTUNITY

More than three decades into the HIV epidemic, Americans have witnessed increased coordination across all sectors—government agencies, non-governmental organizations, the private sector—in responding to the HIV epidemic. These coordinated efforts have helped move the Nation closer to the Strategy goals of reducing HIV infection rates, improving access to care and improving health outcomes, and reducing disparities. Activities that contributed to successful coordination include:

- **Persistent advocacy** from people living with HIV and their allies, pressing all sectors to do more, better, and faster.
- **Engagement of affected communities** and mobilization of broad sectors of society to take action against a condition that is highly stigmatized and associated with sexuality, substance use, and other issues that magnify cultural divides.
- Innovations in prevention and care programs that reflect a strong consumer perspective and incorporate multi-disciplinary approaches.
- Focused and sustained efforts to understand and respect differences in culture, language, and values across multiple populations and various disciplines.
- Increasing reliance on outcomes to drive a Federal domestic HIV investment that has risen to more than \$23 billion per year.

The release of the Strategy spurred considerable efforts to increase coordination, particularly across Federal agencies. Milestones during this period include:

- Establishing a Federal Interagency Working Group on HIV comprised of representatives from multiple departments and many HHS agencies that oversaw specific actions undertaken in response to the Strategy's Federal Implementation Plan.
- Developing and implementing a core set of HIV program indicators used across HHS to support data sharing and promote increased transparency.⁹⁵
- Formulating recommendations for the HIV Care Continuum Initiative and significant accomplishments within and between agencies.^{50-51, 96}

- Collaboration between DOJ and CDC to publish a comprehensive examination of HIV-specific criminal laws and a best practices guide to help States reform these laws.⁹³
- Establishing a Federal Interagency Workgroup on the intersection of HIV and violence against women that resulted in more than 15 new initiatives within two years.⁹⁷

To meet the goal of achieving a more coordinated response to the epidemic, the following challenges must be addressed:

- Cascading the successful experience of coordination at the Federal level to the State, Tribal, and local levels as well as outward to partners including the health care system. Similarly, lessons from these areas can inform ongoing Federal efforts to improve coordination.
- Maintaining accountability for Federal funds while encouraging jurisdictions to engage in coordinated planning that integrates all funding sources with the added benefit of streamlining and reducing reporting burden.

With dispersed responsibility for responding to HIV, there is a need for a clearer understanding of roles and increased accountability. The many Federal agencies that operate critical HIV programs do so under their own statutory authority as established by Congress. It is not possible or desirable to merge all HIV programs under one roof. At the same time, while acknowledging improved coordination since the release of the Strategy, even greater coordination is possible and essential as the Federal response improves to ensure that agencies work in closer collaboration. More effort needs to be directed toward identifying, learning from and replicating global, state, Tribal, and local successes.

SUMMARY OF STEPS

A concerted national effort to achieve a more coordinated national response to HIV is needed. The following steps are critical to achieve success:

STEP 4.A	Incre betv
STEP 4.B	Deve natio

Increase the coordination of HIV programs across the Federal government and between Federal agencies and State, territorial, Tribal, and local governments.

evelop improved mechanisms to monitor and report on progress toward achieving ational goals.

POLICY AND ACTION

STEP 4.A

Increase the coordination of HIV programs across the Federal government and between Federal agencies and State, territorial, Tribal, and local governments.

Funding for HIV services is spread across multiple departments, including HHS, HUD, DOJ, Veterans Affairs, and Defense. Within HHS, in particular, responsibility for HIV programs is spread across multiple agencies including the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), HRSA, CDC, SAMHSA, the Indian Health Service, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), the Office of HIV/AIDS and Infectious Disease Policy (OHAIDP), the Office of Minority Health, and others. Responsibility for HIV research is primarily owned by the National Institutes of Health (NIH); in addition, CDC, VA, Defense, and the United States Agency for

International Development also support research initiatives. This distribution of responsibility is appropriate, as each agency has its own expertise, and different agencies operate different programs with varying purposes and with unique histories.

Spreading HIV programs and services across the Federal government has helped to ensure a multi-faceted response, but has resulted in challenges to optimal coordination. Within HHS, the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health, working through OHAIDP, plays a critical role in promoting consistent policies across HHS. This level of coordination helps to ensure that operating divisions within HHS implement policies that foster coordinated planning across agency and budget lines; align program reporting cycles; adopt common, interoperable data metrics and outcome measures; and adequately reflect the priorities of the Strategy within funding opportunity announcements and other relevant policy documents.

Active coordination also benefits from the exchange of ideas and strategies between leaders with common goals who face similar challenges. This is particularly important in areas with high burden, where campaigns to end AIDS urgently require local political will and concerted resource allocation.

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS

To increase the coordination of HIV programs across the Federal government and between Federal agencies and State, territorial, Tribal, and local governments, the following actions are needed:

4.A. 1	Streamline reporting requirements for Federal grantees.	• The Federal government should continue to simplify grant administration activities, including work to standardize report formats, consolidate funding announcements, and optimize the frequency of grantee reporting requirements for Federal HIV programs, while maintaining the ability to assess performance standards.
4.A. 2	Strengthen coordination across data systems, and the use of data to improve health outcomes and monitor use of Federal funds.	• Federal and state agencies should support and encourage appropriate sharing and use of data to improve continuity of prevention and care services, including monitoring outcomes along the HIV care continuum at the State level, and foster data sharing collaborations among institutions that serve communities at the local level.
4.A. 3	Ensure coordinated program planning and administration.	 The Federal government should continue to increase its focus on coordinated planning for HIV programs and services across agencies.
		 Federal agencies should encourage leadership at state and local levels to coordinate planning, prioritizing, and implementation of HIV prevention and care services.
		 The Federal government will support States to implement integrated planning according to CDC and HRSA guidance; comprehensive HIV prevention plans that are inclusive of all funding resources are encouraged.
		 The Federal government should develop a cross-governmental HIV research agenda for the Nation that spans basic science to implementation science in support of the Strategy goals.
4.A. 4	Promote resource allocation that has the greatest impact on achieving the Strategy goals.	• The Federal government should review the methods used to distribute Federal HIV funds and take steps to ensure that resources go to the States and localities with the greatest burden of disease.
		• Federal and State programs should use data from resource allocation modeling to prioritize and select effective, scalable, cost-efficient programs for reaching populations where the impact will be the greatest.

POLICY AND ACTION

STEP 4.B

Develop improved mechanisms to monitor and report on progress toward achieving national goals.

HIV prevention and care in America requires a bold public health response. Annual deaths have declined, but the number of new infections has been static and the number of people living with HIV is growing. The Nation must:

- Critically evaluate current efforts to maximize impact.
- Measure the results of efforts to reduce new infections and improve health outcomes to chart progress nationally, and refine the response to this public health problem over time.
- Ensure that funds are allocated according to current burden of disease and that the most effective prevention and care strategies are targeted to achieve maximal results.
- Ensure that program goals are clearly stated and performance is monitored.

This requires a monitoring plan that evaluates the implementation of the Strategy, its progress, and the impact of the Strategy efforts. A system of regular public reporting will help to sustain public attention and support at the national level.

At the state level, monitoring and progress reports should reflect integrated planning. Such planning encompasses a joint comprehensive needs assessment, information and data sharing, cross-representation on prevention and care planning bodies, coordinated or combined projects, combined meetings, and fully merged planning bodies. Community engagement is an essential component for planning comprehensive, effective HIV prevention and care programs in the United States.

To understand the epidemic the American people face and how it is changing requires an effective HIV surveillance system. The National HIV Surveillance System is the primary source of data used to monitor the epidemic in the U.S, including most of the Strategy indicators.^{8, 51, 98}

HIV surveillance data are used extensively to target and evaluate HIV prevention and care programs. Therefore, comprehensive and timely data are critical, as are continued improvements in electronic laboratory reporting as timely receipt of laboratory data is critical. Surveillance necessitates a complex system of reporting from providers, laboratories, and State and local health departments to coordinate accurate, complete, and timely reporting.

To be able to meet these imperatives, there must be a strong data infrastructure to provide the necessary information, including client-level data in order to measure individual health outcomes. Further, no single data system meets all the data needs for monitoring progress and performance. Data systems such as the National HIV Surveillance System and the client-level data from the Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program Services Report require ongoing investments to ensure ongoing collection, analysis, and dissemination of data to guide policy decisions and resource allocation.⁹⁹ This includes support for adopting new analytic methods and approaches to increasing the timeliness of data to enhance the ability to describe the burden of HIV across the Nation

and allocate resources to achieve the greatest impact, as well as provide support for local analysis and use of local data. In addition, supplementary data sources such as health care payer databases, surveys, and linkages to electronic health records will ensure robust information to guide decision-making, including the development of Strategy indicators to measure stigma, uptake of PrEP, and HIV diagnoses among transgender women. In addition, STD and viral hepatitis surveillance, as well as data related to substance use (e.g., arrests, hospitalizations, and overdose) can provide early warning signs of emerging or potential HIV outbreaks.¹⁰⁰

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS

To develop improved mechanisms to monitor and report on progress toward achieving national goals, the following actions are needed:

4.B. 1	Strengthen the timely availability and use of data.	 Federal agencies and State, Tribal, and local jurisdictions should ensure use of surveillance, program, and health care data for public health action, characterizing burden of disease, resource allocation, performance monitoring, and progress reporting.
		 Federal agencies should sustain and enhance data systems to promote collection and timely dissemination of data to monitor program performance and progress reports for the National HIV/AIDS Strategy, and ensure measures used at the national level can be replicated at the State level.
		• Federal and local agencies should develop and implement new data elements and systems or analytic methods, as appropriate, to address gaps. These agencies should leverage health information technology—including electronic health records and electronic laboratory reporting—to increase efficiency and coordination of public health data systems.
4.B. 2	Provide regular public reporting on Strategy goals.	 Progress in reaching Strategy goals will be reported by the Federal government through an annual report at the end of each year, released by ONAP in conjunction with other White House offices and Federal agencies.
		 Federal agencies should support appropriate public access to data systems and disseminate evaluation findings through multiple channels.
		 States should monitor their progress towards the goals of the updated Strategy by measuring the National HIV/AIDS Strategy indicators where feasible.
4.B. 3	Enhance program accountability.	 Governments at all levels should hold themselves and recipients of public funds accountable for achieving results.
		• Funding announcements should clearly state performance goals and funders should actively monitor progress, provide technical assistance or take corrective action, as needed, and explore mechanisms to reward success to ensure Federal funds have the greatest impact.
		 Progress reports should be made available to the public.

48 NATIONAL HIV/AIDS STRATEGY: UPDATED TO 2020

APPENDIX 1 INDICATOR DEVELOPMENT AND PROGRESS

As part of the Update process, a work group comprised of Federal agency representatives was charged with developing recommendations for indicators, measures, and targets to monitor progress toward achieving the Strategy goals. The work group established criteria (see box) for reviewing existing, and developing new, indicators; selecting data sources; and evaluating measures and targets. The work group reviewed surveillance data and pertinent published literature; and conducted focused consultations with stakeholders from the Federal government, academia, clinical care, and advocacy. Many of the indicators from the 2010 Strategy were retained, but measures or data sources were changed to reflect current science, practice, and the indicator criteria. Table A1 shows a comparison of the original indicators through 2015 and the updated indicators through 2020, noting indicators that have been changed, are new, or were dropped. Specific changes are described below. The work group sought to develop updated indicators with ambitious, yet feasible, targets that would inspire action and maintain progress toward meeting the Strategy's HIV prevention, treatment, and care outcomes.

Three key issues were designated to be "developmental indicators," meaning that data sources, measures, and targets will be identified and progress monitored thereafter. These three issues are PrEP, stigma, and HIV among transgender persons. Data and measures exist for all three but do not currently meet the indicator criteria. Working with stakeholders, the Federal government will develop indicators for these three issues during the next five years.

CRITERIA FOR THE INDICATORS

Establishing criteria for the indicators allowed the work group to adhere to a systematic process that ensured consistency and efficiency in developing recommendations for up to 12 indicators. The criteria it used were as follows:

Indicators: All indicators were required to have a direct relationship to one or more of the Strategy goals. In addition, each indicator needed to reflect current HIV science, policy, and practice; represent measurable outcomes or impacts rather than processes; and be derived from quantitative data from an appropriate source.

Data Sources: In evaluating data sources, the work group considered favorably those that were nationally representative; provided data on a timely, routine basis; expected that the data would be comparable across years; had data that were amenable to stratification by age, geographic region, race/ethnicity, sex, and transmission category to monitor disparities; and retained sufficient flexibility to adapt definitions, as needed, in response to changes in guidelines or clinical practice. A priority was placed on data sources that would allow States to monitor progress toward Strategy goals in their jurisdictions.

Measures: The measure for each indicator needed to demonstrate face validity, in that it appeared to assess what was intended. In addition, measures needed to be simple and easy to communicate to a range of audiences.

PROGRESS REPORT, 2010 - 2013

The indicators, baseline and annual data, and progress assessments are included in Table A2. Each indicator and its progress is described briefly below; more detailed specifications for the indicators, including data sources and measures, will be available on the ONAP website. The baseline year was set at 2010 for all indicators to reflect the ongoing Strategy work. The year for reaching the final targets is 2020. After careful consideration, the work group decided to set annual targets by allocating the total amount of change needed between the 2010 baseline and the 2020 target as follows: five percent of the total change is expected for each of the initial three years (2011–2013), ten percent is expected for each of the subsequent four years (2014–2017), and fifteen percent of the total change is expected for each of the final three years (2018–2020). This allows for implementation activities begun after the 2010 release of the Strategy to take hold and their effects to accelerate over time, rather than expecting slow advances year by year.

Progress was assessed by comparing the most recent year of data to the annual target for that year. For the indicators with preliminary data shown in Table A2, progress was assessed for the most recent year that the data were not preliminary.

Overall, there is a mixed picture of progress. Important gains are underway toward increasing the percentage of persons living with HIV who know their status, are linked to care, and have achieved viral suppression. Progress also is being made in reducing the number of new diagnoses and the death rate. More work is needed to reach the targets for other indicators. Concerted action for 2016-2020 will be necessary to meet the accelerated annual targets for all indicators. This Update and the bold targets it has set offer new opportunities to reinvigorate the combined national effort to reduce new infections, improve access to and outcomes of HIV care, and reduce health disparities.

INDICATOR 1

Increase the percentage of people living with HIV who know their serostatus to at least 90 percent, from the baseline of 85.7 percent.

This indicator retains a focus on increasing serostatus awareness among persons living with HIV infection, as this awareness (i.e., being diagnosed with HIV infection) is necessary to access HIV medical care and support services. In addition, analyses suggest that persons unaware of their HIV infection may account for about one third of new infections, so increasing knowledge of serostatus is central to reducing new infections as well as improving health outcomes. The 90 percent target is the same as the target established by the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS for their 2020 indicators.¹⁰¹

PROGRESS: The percentage of people living with HIV who knew their serostatus in 2012 (87.2 percent) exceeded the annual target (86.1 percent).

INDICATOR 2	Reduce the number of new diagnoses by at least 25 percent, from 43,806 at
INDICATOR 2	baseline to 32,855.

This indicator measures progress towards the goal of reducing new infections. This is an ambitious target because it requires and encompasses improvement in all other indicators and in overall prevention, treatment, and care efforts.

Although HIV incidence estimates were used previously as an indicator for the Strategy to measure reductions in new infections, as noted in Table A1, these estimates have not provided a timely and consistent way to monitor progress. The estimated number of new infections has changed, and likely will continue to change over time, due to changes in HIV testing technology and incidence estimation methods. These changes make it difficult to use these data as an indicator to measure progress over time. In contrast, HIV diagnosis data are published in a routine and standardized format and are available for all States. Given these advantages, HIV diagnosis data are used for the indicator in this Update.

Using diagnosis data to track progress in reducing new HIV infections has some challenges. First, these data must be interpreted with consideration for trends in HIV testing, as changes in testing can lead to changes in diagnosis trends that are not related to trends in new infections. For example, if HIV diagnoses decrease, evaluation is required to determine whether this decrease is due to fewer HIV tests being conducted or HIV

tests being performed on persons at lower risk, versus an indication of a decline in new HIV infections. Second, efforts to increase the percentage of people living with HIV who know their HIV status require an increase in diagnoses—meaning that, at least initially, achieving progress toward Indicator 1 may have a negative impact on progress toward Indicator 2. Over the longer term, diagnosing individuals who were previously undiagnosed will ultimately result in increased linkage to and retention in care and treatment, increased viral suppression, and decreased transmission to uninfected partners. This will reduce new infections, which will be reflected in a decrease in the number of new diagnoses.

Because HIV incidence is not being used as an indicator, the 2010 indicator for transmission rate was not included (transmission rate is based on incidence).

PROGRESS: The number of new diagnoses in 2012 (42,616) was lower than the annual target (42,711), exceeding expected progress in reducing the number of new diagnoses.

As noted above, diagnosis trends must be considered in the context of HIV testing trends. Data used to monitor trends in HIV testing come from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. Although a statistically significant increase in testing during 2011-2013 was seen, the amount of increase was small (from 42.9 percent ever tested to 43.5 percent).¹⁰² Taken together, decreases in HIV diagnoses in the context of a slight increase in testing is encouraging. Additional years of diagnosis data and additional analyses about testing trends in high risk populations are needed to determine the extent to which these trends may reflect declining incidence in high risk populations.

INDICATOR 3	Reduce the percentage of young gay and bisexual men who have engaged in HIV-risk
	behaviors by at least 10 percent, from the baseline of 34.1 percent.

This is a new indicator, measuring HIV prevention behaviors in young gay and bisexual men, a group in which HIV infections have increased in recent years. Having an indicator specifically measuring risk for HIV acquisition among young gay and bisexual men reflects the need for effective prevention strategies to achieve the goal of reducing new infections in at-risk groups. The indicator is measured using data from the Youth Risk Behavioral Surveillance System and thus includes males in grades 9-12. Risk behaviors are assessed for the 3 months prior to the interview and include having had multiple (3 or more) partners, not using a condom at last sex, or having ever injected any illegal drug.

PROGRESS: 34.1 percent of young gay and bisexual men had engaged in HIV-risk behaviors. These data were first available in 2013 so progress is not assessed.

INDICATOR 4

Increase the percentage of newly diagnosed persons linked to HIV medical care within one month of diagnosis to at least 85 percent, from the baseline of 70.2 percent.

In recognition of the benefits of early treatment and thus the need for immediate linkage to HIV medical care for all persons newly diagnosed with HIV, this updated indicator measures linkage to care within one month of diagnosis. This is an ambitious new target as the previous indicator called for linkage to care within three months of diagnosis (see Table A1).

PROGRESS: The percentage of newly diagnosed persons linked to HIV medical care within one month of diagnosis in 2013 (72.6 percent) exceeded the annual target (72.4 percent).

INDICATOR 5 Increase the percentage of persons with diagnosed HIV infection who are retained in HIV medical care to at least 90 percent, from the baseline of 50.9 percent.

In order for persons living with HIV infection to realize the full benefit of HIV medical care, they must stay in care over time. Doing so helps to achieve viral suppression that can improve health outcomes, reduce the risk of HIV transmission, and lower the number of new infections.

This indicator differs from the measure of retention used in 2010 (see Table A1). This updated indicator relies on surveillance data, which includes all persons diagnosed with HIV infection, rather than data reported from the HRSA Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program. With this larger pool of persons in the denominator, the baseline level of retention is lower than in the 2010 Strategy. The 2020 target will be difficult to reach, but is a key focus area of the Update. The target of 90 percent is comparable to the indicator used by UNAIDS.¹⁰¹

PROGRESS: The percentage of persons with diagnosed HIV infection who were retained in HIV medical care in 2012 (53.8 percent) did not meet the annual target (54.8 percent), suggesting that additional attention is needed in order to reach this goal. The percentage retained in care in 2012 was higher than the baseline level of 50.9 percent indicating progress in the right direction.

INDICATOR 6

Increase the percentage of persons with diagnosed HIV infection who are virally suppressed to at least 80 percent, from the baseline of 43.4 percent.

Accruing the full clinical and public health benefits of HIV medical care depends upon entry into a robust care continuum that includes early diagnosis, timely linkage to care, consistent access and adherence to HIV medical care and antiretrovirals, and ongoing monitoring to ensure viral suppression. As the endpoint of the continuum of care, it is important that the nation's target for viral suppression is bold and ambitious. This target for the United States aligns with the 90-90-90 goals set by UNAIDS but uses a different denominator.¹⁰¹ That is, 90 percent of those diagnosed are retained and 90 percent of those retained are virally suppressed is approximately the same as 80 percent of those diagnosed being virally suppressed.

This indicator differs from the measures of viral suppression used in 2010 (see Table A1). The updated indicator measures viral suppression among all persons with diagnosed HIV infection, rather than only in specific groups.

PROGRESS: The percentage of persons with diagnosed HIV infection who were virally suppressed in 2012 (50.1 percent) exceeded the annual target (47.1 percent).

INDICATOR 7

Reduce the percentage of persons in HIV medical care who are homeless to no more than 5 percent, from the baseline of 7.7 percent.

Housing status is an important factor affecting access to HIV care and health outcomes. This indicator differs in two ways from the measure of housing status used in 2010 (see Table A1). First, changes were made to allow for measurement of housing status in a broader group of persons in HIV care than those receiving services through the Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program. Second, the updated indicator focuses specifically on homelessness, rather than on the broader category of housing instability. The improved sampling frame was considered an acceptable tradeoff for the narrower focus on homelessness. As the proportion of those who are homeless decreases, it will take considerable effort to reach the small proportion of those still requiring housing assistance.

PROGRESS: The percentage of persons in HIV medical care who were homeless in 2012 (8.3 percent) did not meet the annual target (7.4 percent) and increased, rather than decreased. This trend suggests that additional effort is needed in order to reach this goal. As noted in the 2013 Report on the State of Homelessness in America, the trend may reflect devastating economic climate affecting the nation at the time.¹⁰³

INDICATOR 8

Reduce the death rate among persons with diagnosed HIV infection by at least 33 percent, from the baseline of 23.5 per 1,000 persons with diagnosed HIV infection to 15.5.

For this Update, a new indicator to monitor all-cause death rates among persons living with HIV was added because reducing mortality is an anticipated outcome of achieving all of the goals of the Strategy. This indicator reflects the overall quality of HIV medical care received, such that sustained delivery of high quality care should lead to greater reductions in death rates for persons living with HIV.

PROGRESS: The death rate per 1,000 persons with diagnosed HIV infection in 2012 (18.1) was lower than the annual target (22.7), exceeding expected progress in reducing the death rate.

	Reduce disparities in the rate of new diagnoses by at least 15 percent in the following
INDICATOR 9	groups: gay and bisexual men, young Black gay and bisexual men, Black females, and
	persons living in the Southern United States.

This indicator monitors disparities in diagnosis rates for disproportionately affected groups. It is a new indicator (See Table A1). The indicator measures reductions in the disparity, rather than reductions in the rate for each group by measuring changes in the ratio of the disparity rate for each group and the overall population rate. The ratio provides a measure of the disparity, such that the ratio increases as the difference widens between a selected group and the overall population and decreases as the difference narrows. The choice of measuring diagnosis rates, rather than numbers, was made to standardize measures (i.e., per 100,000 population).

PROGRESS: The disparity ratios for gay and bisexual men and young Black gay and bisexual men in 2012 (21.9 and 112.9, respectively) did not meet the annual targets (20.2 and 107.8, respectively) and were increasing, rather than decreasing. The disparity ratio for Black females in 2012 (1.4) was lower than the annual target (1.7), exceeding expected progress in reducing disparities. In fact, the ratio for 2012 met the 2020 target of 1.4 and achieving the 15 percent reduction in the disparity ratio. It will be important to determine whether the reduction in the disparity is sustained in future years; if so, the disparity target could be revised to be more than a 15 percent reduction. The disparity ratio for persons living in the Southern United States in 2012 (0.33) met the annual target (0.33).

INDICATOR 10

Increase the percentage of youth and persons who inject drugs with diagnosed HIV infection who are virally suppressed to at least 80 percent from the 29.7 percent and 37.6 percent baselines, respectively.

This indicator extends a focus on viral suppression, as measured by Indicator 6, to youth and persons who inject drugs, given data showing important disparities in viral suppression (i.e., lower percentage virally suppressed) for these groups in comparison to the overall. Ensuring that the target for viral suppression in these groups is the same as the overall target reduces the disparity in these groups. This indicator uses a different target and specified groups as compared to the 2010 disparity indicator for viral suppression (see Table A1).

PROGRESS: The percentage of youth who were virally suppressed in 2012 (38.0 percent) exceeded the annual target (34.7 percent). Similarly, the percentage of persons who inject drugs who were virally suppressed in 2012 (42.8 percent) exceeded the annual target (41.9 percent).

TABLE A1: COMPARISON OF NATIONAL HIV/AIDS STRATEGY INDICATORS FOR 2015 AND 2020

NHAS INDICATORS BY 2015	NHAS INDICATORS BY 2020
CHANGED	
Lower the annual number of new infections by 25 percent.	Reduce the number of new HIV diagnoses by at least 25 percent.
Increase from 79 percent to 90 percent the percentage of people living with HIV who know their serostatus.	Increase the percentage of people living with HIV who know their serostatus to at least 90 percent.
Increase the proportion of newly diagnosed patients linked to clinical care within three months of their HIV diagnosis from 65 percent to 85 percent.	Increase the percentage of newly diagnosed persons linked to HIV medical care within one month of their HIV diagnosis to at least 85 percent.
Increase the proportion of Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program clients who are in continuous care from 73 percent to 80 percent.	Increase the percentage of persons with diagnosed HIV infection who are retained in HIV medical care to at least 90 percent.
Increase the percentage of Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program clients with permanent housing from 82 percent to 86 percent.	Reduce the percentage of persons in HIV medical care who are homeless to no more than 5 percent.
ADDED	
_	Reduce the percentage of young gay and bisexual men who have engaged in HIV-risk behaviors by at least 10 percent.
_	Increase the percentage of persons with diagnosed HIV infection who are virally suppressed to at least 80 percent.
_	Reduce the death rate among persons with diagnosed HIV infection by at least 33 percent.
_	Reduce disparities in the rate of new diagnoses by at least 15 percent in the following groups: gay and bisexual men, young Black gay and bisexual men, Black females, and persons living in the Southern United States.
	Increase the percentage of youth and persons who inject drugs with diagnosed HIV infection who are virally suppressed to at least 80 percent.

DROPPED

Reduce the HIV transmission rate by 30 percent.

Increase the proportion of HIV diagnosed gay and bisexual men with undetectable viral load by 20 percent.

Increase the proportion of HIV diagnosed Blacks with undetectable viral load by 20 percent.

Increase the proportion of HIV diagnosed Latinos with undetectable viral load by 20 percent.

 $\label{eq:please} Please see the narrative description of each indicator for the reasons for changes, additions, and deletions.$

Table A2. Indicators and Progress for the National HIV/AIDS Strategy, Updated to 2020

		Date	Date by Year		Targets	jets	Progress
Indicator	2010 Baseline	2011	2012	2013	Annual	2020	
Increase the percentage of people living with HIV who know their serostatus to at least 90 percent.	85.7%	86.4%	87.2%		86.1%	%06	-
Reduce the number of new diagnoses by at least 25 percent.	43,806	42,218	42,616	42, 018**	42,711	32,855	
Reduce the percentage of gay and bisexual men who have engaged in HIV-risk behaviors by at least 10 percent.	n/a	n/a	n/a	34.1%	n/a	30.7%	n/a
Increase the percentage of newly diagnosed persons linked to HIV medical care within one month of diagnosis to at least 85 percent.	70.2%	70.4%	71.4%	72.6%	72.4%	85%	-
Increase the percentage of persons with diagnosed HIV infection who are retained in HIV medical care to at least 90 percent.	50.9%	51.5%	53.8%		54.8%	%06	-
Increase the percentage of persons with diagnosed HIV infection who are virally suppressed to at least 80 percent.	43.4%	46.8%	50.1%		47.1%	80%	
Reduce the percentage of persons in HIV medical care who are homeless to no more than 5 percent.	7.7%	8.1%	8.3%		7.4%	5%	
Reduce the death rate among persons with diagnosed HIV infection by at least 33 percent. $^{\rm s}$	23.5	20.8	18.0		22.7	15.5	-
Reduce disparities in the rate of new diagnoses by at least 15 percent among gay and bisexual ment	20.5	21.2	21.9	22.2**	20.2	17.4	-
Reduce disparities in the rate of new diagnoses by at least 15 percent among young Black gay and bisexual men [†]	109.4	112.4	112.9	114.9**	107.8	93.0	-
Reduce disparities in the rate of new diagnoses by at least 15 percent among Black females†	1.7	1.5	1.4	1.3^{**}	1.7	1.4	
Reduce disparities in the rate of new diagnoses by at least 15 percent among persons living in the Southern United States†	0.33	0.35	0.33	0.36**	0.33	0.28	-
Increase the percentage of youth with diagnosed HIV infection who are virally suppressed to at least 80 percent.	29.7%	33.7%	38.0%		34.7%	80%	
Increase the percentage of persons who inject drugs with diagnosed HIV infection who are virally suppressed to at least 80 percent.	37.6%	39.2%	42.8%		41.9%	80%	•

Note: Progress colors: Green = Annual target met; Yellow = Annual target not met, progress in expected direction; Red = Annual target not met, progress in the opposite direction * Annual targets are for the most recent data year available (does not include data marked "preliminary") ** Preliminary data

§ Death rate is measured per 1,000 persons with diagnosed HIV infection. †Measures shown are ratios of the disparity rate in the specified group to the overall rate.

APPENDIX 2 LIST OF ACRONYMS

ADA	Americans with Disabilities Act
ADAP	AIDS Drug Assistance Program
AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
ART	Antiretroviral Therapy
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (HHS)
DOJ	U.S. Department of Justice
FDA	Food and Drug Administration (HHS)
HHS	U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
HOPWA	Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS (HUD)
HPTN	HIV Prevention Trials Network
HRSA	Health Resources and Services Administration (HHS)
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HUD	U.S Department of Housing and Urban Development
IPV	Intimate Partner Violence
LGBT	Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender
NIH	National Institutes of Health (HHS)
OHAIDP	Office of HIV/AIDS and Infectious Disease Policy (HHS)
ONAP	White House Office of National AIDS Policy
PEP	Post-exposure prophylaxis
PrEP	Pre-exposure prophylaxis
RWHAP	Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program (HRSA)
SAMHSA	Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (HHS) $% \left({{\rm Abuse}} \right)$
SMAIF	Secretary's Minority AIDS Initiative
START	Strategic Timing of Antiretroviral Therapy
STI	Sexually transmitted infection

APPENDIX 3 LIST OF REFERENCES

1. Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, et al. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med. 2011; 365(6):493-505. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1105243

2. Starting Antiretroviral Treatment Early Improves Outcomes for HIV-Infected Individuals [news release]. NIH News. Bethesda, MD: NIH News; May 27, 2015. http://www.niaid.nih.gov/news/newsreleases/2015/Pages/ START.aspx# Accessed June 5, 2015.

3. Grant RM, Lama JR, Anderson PL, et al. Preexposure chemoprophylaxis for HIV prevention in men who have sex with men. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(27):2587-2599. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1011205

4. Baeten JM, Donnell D, Ndase P, et al. Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV prevention in heterosexual men and women. N Engl J Med. 2012;367(5):399-410. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1108524

5. Thigpen MC, Kebaabetswe PM, Paxton LA, et al. Antiretroviral preexposure prophylaxis for heterosexual HIV transmission in Botswana. N Engl J Med. 2012; 367(5):423-434. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1110711

6. Choopanya K, Martin M, Suntharasamai P, et al. Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV infection among people who inject drugs in Bangkok, Thailand (the Bangkok Tenofovir Study): a randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2013;381(9883):2083-90. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61127-7

7. Advancing the National HIV/AIDS Strategy: CDC's new high-impact approach to HIV prevention funding for health departments. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. June 2011. http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/policies_funding_ps12-1201_HD_awards_media_factsheet.pdf Accessed June 4, 2015.

8. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Monitoring selected national HIV prevention and care objectives by using HIV surveillance data – United States and 6 dependent areas – 2013.HIV Surveillance Supplemental Report. 2015; 20(2). http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/library/reports/surveillance/

9. Kaiser Family Foundation. The Washington Post/Kaiser Family Foundation 2012 survey of Americans on HIV/ AIDS. July 2012. https://kaiserfamilyfoundation.files.wordpress.com/2013/01/8334-f.pdf

10. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV Surveillance Report, 2013. February 2015; 25. http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/library/reports/surveillance/

11. Frenk SM, Porter KS, Paulozzi LJ. Prescription opioid analgesic use among adults: United States, 1999–2012. National Center for Health Statistics Data Brief. February 2015; 189. http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/dataBriefs/ db189.pdf

12. Hedegaard H, Chen LH, Warner M. Drug-poisoning deaths involving heroin: United States, 2000–2013. National Center for Health Statistics Data Brief. March 2015; 190. http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/ db190.pdf 13. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Increases in hepatitis C virus infection related to injection drug use among persons aged ≤30 years — Kentucky, Tennessee, Virginia, and West Virginia, 2006–2012. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2015;64(17):453-458.

14. Satcher Johnson A, Hall HI, Hu X, Lansky A, Holtgrave DR, Mermin J. Trends in diagnoses of HIV infection in the United States, 2002-2011 JAMA. 2014;312(4):432-434. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.8534

15. New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene. HIV Surveillance Annual Report, 2013. December 2014. http://www.nyc.gov/html/doh/downloads/pdf/dires/2013-hiv-surveillance-annual-report.pdf

16. Massachusetts Department of Public Health. Massachusetts STD, HIV/AIDS and Viral Hepatitis Surveillance Report: 2013. October 2014. http://www.mass.gov/eohhs/docs/dph/cdc/aids/std-surveillance-2013.pdf

17. San Francisco Department of Public Health. HIV Epidemiology Annual Report, 2013. August 2014. https://www.sfdph.org/dph/files/reports/RptsHIVAIDS/HIVAIDAnnlRpt2013.pdf.

18. Los Angeles County Department of Public Health. 2013 Annual HIV Surveillance Report. April 2014. http://publichealth.lacounty.gov/wwwfiles/ph/hae/hiv/2013AnnualSurveillanceReport.pdf.

19. New York State Department of Health. 2015 blueprint for achieving the goal set forth by Governor Cuomo to end the AIDS epidemic in New York State by the end of 2020. March 2015. http://www.health.ny.gov/diseases/aids/ending_the_epidemic/docs/blueprint.pdf

20. End AIDS Washington. http://endaidswashington.org/ Accessed June 3, 2015.

21. Getting to Zero in San Francisco. http://www.sfhiv.org/wp-content/uploads/1113-Getting-to-Zero.pdf Accessed July 9, 2015.

22. Herbst JH, Jacobs ED, Finlayson TJ, McKleroy VS, Neumann MS, Crepaz N. Estimating HIV prevalence and risk behaviors of transgender persons in the United States: a systematic review. AIDS Behav. 2008; 12:1–17. doi: 10.1007/s10461-007-9299-3

23. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV Surveillance in Adolescents and Young Adults (through 2013). Slide set. http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/library/slideSets/index.html Accessed July 9, 2015.

24. Millett GA, Flores SA, Peterson J, Bakeman R. Explaining disparities in HIV infection among Black and White men who have sex with men: a meta-analysis of HIV-risk behaviors. AIDS 2007;21(15): 2083-2091. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17885299

25. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Effective HIV surveillance among Asian Americans and Native Hawaiians and other Pacific Islanders. April 2013. http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/policies_13_238558_ HIVSurveillance_NHAS_v6_508.pdf

26. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Improving HIV surveillance among American Indians and Alaska Natives in the United States. January 2013. http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/policies_strategy_nhas_native_americans.pdf

27. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Community outbreak of HIV infection linked to injection drug use of oxymorphone—Indiana, 2015. MMWR 2015; 64(16):443-444.

28. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Demonstration Projects: Care and Prevention in the United States. http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/prevention/demonstration/index.html, Accessed June 3, 2015.

29. Department of Health and Human Services Panel on Antiretroviral Guidelines for Adults and Adolescents. Guidelines for the use of antiretroviral agents in HIV-1-infected adults and adolescents. http://aidsinfo.nih.gov/ contentfiles/lvguidelines/AdultandAdolescentGL.pdf.

30. Skarbinski J, Rosenberg E, Paz-Bailey, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus transmission at each step of the care continuum in the United States. JAMA. 2015; 175(4): 588-596. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.8180.

31. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Health Resources and Services Administration, National Institutes of Health, American Academy of HIV Medicine, Association of Nurses in AIDS Care, International Association of Providers of AIDS Care, the National Minority AIDS Council, and Urban Coalition for HIV/AIDS Prevention Services. Recommendations for HIV prevention with adults and adolescents with HIV in the United States, 2014. December 11, 2014. http://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/26062

32. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Final recommendation statement: human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection: screening. December 2014. http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/ RecommendationStatementFinal/human-immunodeficiency-virus-hiv-infection-screening

33. Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention. 2015 sexually transmitted diseases treatment guidelines. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2015; 64(3). http://www.cdc.gov/std/tg2015/default.htm

34. Moyer, V. Screening for hepatitis C virus infection in adults: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. Ann Intern Med. 2013; 159(5): 349-357. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-159-5-201309030-00672

35. LeFevre, M. Screening for hepatitis B virus infection in nonpregnant adolescents and adults: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. Ann Intern Med. 2014; 161(1): 58-66. doi:10.7326/M14-1018

36. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for depression in adults: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. Ann Intern Med 2009;151:784-792.

37. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Intimate Partner Violence and Abuse of Elderly and Vulnerable Adults: Screening, January 2013. http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/ RecommendationStatementFinal/intimate-partner-violence-and-abuse-of-elderly-and-vulnerable-adultsscreening Accessed July 9, 2015.

38. Marks G, Crepaz N, Janssen, RS. Estimating sexual transmission of HIV from persons aware and unaware that they are infected with the virus in the USA. AIDS. 2006; 20(10):1447-1450. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16791020

39. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and Association of Public Health Laboratories. Laboratory testing for the diagnosis of HIV infection: Updated recommendations. June 27, 2014. http://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/23447

40. US Public Health Service. Preexposure prophylaxis for the prevention of HIV infection in the United States: A Clinical Practice Guideline. http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/PrEPguidelines2014.pdf. Accessed June 3 2015.

41. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Antiretroviral postexposure prophylaxis after sexual, injectiondrug use, or other nonoccupational exposure to HIV in the United States: recommendations from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2005; 54(22):1-20. http:// www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/rr5402a1.htm

42. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Recommendations for use of antiretroviral drugs in pregnant HIV-1 infected women for maternal health and interventions to reduce perinatal HIV transmission in the United States. May 24, 2010.

43. Weller S, Davis, K. Condom effectiveness in reducing heterosexual HIV transmission. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2002; (1):CD003255. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11869658

44. Smith DK, Herbst JH, Zhang X, Rose CE. Condom effectiveness for HIV prevention by consistency of use among men who have sex with men in the United States. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2015 Mar 1;68(3): 337-344. doi: 10.1097/QAI.00000000000461

45. Satcher, D. Evidence-based findings on the efficacy of syringe programs: analysis from the Assistant Secretary for Health and Surgeon General of the scientific research completed since April 1998. Department of Health and Human Services. 2000. http://www.csam-asam.org/evidence-based-findings-efficacy-syringeexchange-programs-analysis-scientific-research-completed-ap

46. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV Prevention Behavioral Interventions Selected for Support by the Division of HIV/AIDS Prevention. https://effectiveinterventions.cdc.gov/docs/default-source/general-docs/HIV_Prevention_Behavioral_Interventions_Selected_for_Support_by_the_Division_of_HIV.pdf

47. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV prevention that works. https://effectiveinterventions.cdc. gov Updated 2015.

48. Lasry A, Sansom SL, Hicks KA, Uzunangelov V. Allocating HIV prevention funds in the United States: recommendations from an optimization model. PLoS One. June 6, 2012; 7(6):e37545. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0037545

49. Hamel L, Firth J, Hoff T, Kates J, Levine S, Dawson L. HIV/AIDS in the lives of gay and bisexual men in the United States. September 25, 2014. http://kff.org/hivaids/report/hivaids-in-the-lives-of-gay-and-bisexual-men-in-the-united-states/

50. Office of National AIDS Policy, White House Domestic Policy Council. Improving outcomes: accelerating progress along the HIV care continuum. December 2013. https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/onap_nhas_improving_outcomes_dec_2013.pdf

51. Office of National AIDS Policy, White House Domestic Policy Council. Update of 2014 Federal actions to achieve national goals and improve outcomes along the HIV care continuum. December 2014. https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/docs/nhas_2014_progress_report_final_2.pdf

52. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Trauma-informed approach and trauma-specific interventions. http://www.samhsa.gov/nctic/trauma-interventions. Updated June 3, 2015..

53. Machtinger, EL, Wilson, TC, Haberer, JE, Weiss, DS. Psychological trauma and PTSD in HIV-positive women: a meta-analysis. AIDS Behav. Nov 2012;16(8): 2091–2100. doi:10.1007/s10461-011-0127-4

54. Kaiser Family Foundation. Assessing the impact of the Affordable Care Act on health insurance coverage of people with HIV. January 7, 2014. http://kff.org/hivaids/issue-brief/assessing-the-impact-of-the-affordable-care-act-on-health-insurance-coverage-of-people-with-hiv/

55. Kaiser Family Foundation. Health insurance coverage for people with HIV under the Affordable Care Act: Experiences in five states. December 19, 2014. http://kff.org/hivaids/issue-brief/health-insurance-coverage-for-people-with-hiv-under-the-affordable-care-act-experiences-in-five-states/

56. Farnham PG, Gopalappa C, Sansom SL, et al. Updates of lifetime costs of care and quality-of-life estimates for HIV-infected persons in the United States: late versus early diagnosis and entry into care. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013;64(2):183-9. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e3182973966

57. Shackman BR, Fleishman JA, Su AE, et al. The lifetime medical cost savings from preventing HIV in the United States. Poster presented at: 2015 Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infection; February 23-26, 2015; Seattle, WA.

58. Moore RM, Gebo KA, Lucas GM, Keruly JC. Rate of co-morbidities not related to HIV infection or AIDS among HIV-infected patients, by CD4 count and HAART use status. Clin Infect Dis 2008; 47(8):1102-1104. doi: 10.1086/592115

59. Whitman-Walker Health. Red carpet. http://www.whitman-walker.org/service/medical/red-carpet/

60. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Program collaboration and service integration: enhancing the prevention and control of HIV/AIDS, viral hepatitis, sexually transmitted diseases, and tuberculosis in the United States. http://www.cdc.gov/nchhstp/ProgramIntegration/docs/207181-C_NCHHSTP_PCSI%20 WhitePaper-508c.pdf Accessed June 16, 2015

61. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Minority AIDS initiative continuum of care pilot - integration of HIV prevention and medical care into mental health and substance abuse treatment programs for racial/ethnic minority populations at high risk for behavioral health disorders and HIV. April 24, 2014. http://www.samhsa.gov/grants/grant-announcements/ti-14-013

62. Lawrinson P, Ali R, Buavirat A, et al. Key findings from the WHO collaborative study on substitution therapy for opioid dependence and HIV/AIDS. Addiction. 2008;103(9):1484–1492.

63. Ball JC, Lange WR, Myers CP, Friedman SR. Reducing the risk of AIDS through methadone-maintenance treatment.1988;29(3):214–226.

64. Gowing LR, Farrell M, Bornemann R, Sullivan LE, Ali RL. Methadone treatment of injecting opioid users for prevention of HIV infection. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2006;21(2):193–195.

65. Hartel DM, Schoenbaum EE. Methadone treatment protects against HIV infection: two decades of experience in the Bronx, New York City. Public Health Rep. 1998;113 (Suppl 1):107–115.

66. Gossop M, Marsden J, Stewart D, Treacy S. Reduced injection risk and sexual risk behaviours after drug misuse treatment: results from the National Treatment Outcome Research Study. AIDS Care-Psychological and Socio-Medical Aspects of AIDS/HIV. 2002;14(1):77–93.

67. Caplehorn JRM, Ross MW. Methadone-maintenance and the likelihood of risky needle-sharing. International Journal of the Addictions. 1995;30(6):685–698.

68. Hubbard RL, Craddock SG, Flynn PM, Anderson J, Etheridge RM. Overview of 1-year follow-up outcomes in the Drug Abuse Treatment Outcome Study (DATOS) Psychology of Addictive Behaviors. 1997;11(4):261–278.

69. Booth RE, Crowley TJ, Zhang YM. Substance abuse treatment entry, retention and effectiveness: Out-of-treatment opiate injection drug users. Drug and Alcohol Dependence. 1996;42(1):11–20.

70. Sullivan LE, Moore BA, Chawarski MC, et al. Buprenorphine/naloxone treatment in primary care is associated with decreased human immunodeficiency virus risk behaviors. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment. 2008;35(1):87–92.

71. Krupitsky EM, Zvartau EE, Masalov DV, et al. Naltrexone with or without fluoxetine for preventing relapse to heroin addiction in St. Petersburg, Russia. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment. 2006;31(4):319–328.

72. Nosyk B, Min JE, Colley G. et al. The causal effect of opiod substitution treatment on HAART medication refill adherence. AIDS. 2015 May 15;29(8):965-73.

73. Sweeney P, Gardner LI, Buchacz K, et al. Shifting the paradigm: Using HIV surveillance data as a foundation for improving HIV care and preventing HIV infection. Milbank Quarterly. 2013;91(3): 558–603. doi: 10.1111/milq.12018

74. Iroh PA, Mayo H, Nijhawan AE. The HIV care cascade before, during, and after incarceration: A systematic review and data synthesis. Am J Public Health. July 2015;105(7):e5-e16. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302635

75. AIDS Education and Training Center. About the AIDS education and training center program. http://aidsetc. org/about Updated April 26, 2014.

76. Capacity Building for High Impact Prevention. www.effectiveinterventions.cdc.gov. Accessed July 9, 2015.

77. Partnerships for Care. Partnerships for care (P4C): health departments and health centers collaborating to improve HIV health outcomes. http://www.p4chivtac.com/ Updated 2015.

78. Bradford JB, Coleman S, Cunningham W. HIV system navigation: an emerging model to improve HIV care access. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2007; 21: 49-58. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17563290

79. Rosenblatt RA, Andrilla CH, Catlin M, Larson EH. Geographic and specialty distribution of US physicians trained to treat opioid use disorder. Ann Fam Med. 2015 Jan-Feb;13(1):23-6. doi: 10.1370/afm.1735.

80. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. 2009 National Healthcare Quality Report. March 2010. http://archive.ahrq.gov/research/findings/nhqrdr/nhqr09/Key.html

81. Cargill VA, Stone VE. HIV/AIDS: a minority health issue. Med Clin North Am. July 2005; 89(4):895-912. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15925655

82. Hayes V, Blondeau W, Bing-You RG. Assessment of medical student and resident/fellow knowledge, comfort, and training with sexual history taking in LGBTQ patients. Fam Med. 2015; 47(5):383-387. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25905882

83. Williamson, C. Providing care to transgender persons: a clinical approach to primary care, hormones, and HIV management. J Assoc Nurses AIDS care 2010;21(3):221-229. doi: 10.1016/j.jana.2010.02.004

84. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. HIV care continuum: The connection between housing and improved outcomes along the HIV care continuum. 2014. https://www.hudexchange.info/ resources/documents/The-Connection-Between-Housing-and-Improved-Outcomes-Along-the-HIV-Care-Continuum.pdf

85. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Medical examination of aliens - removal of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection form definition of communicable disease of public health significance. Federal Register. November 2, 2009; 74(210). http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2009-11-02/pdf/E9-26337.pdf

86. Moore RD, Keruly JC, Bartlett JG. Improvement in the health of HIV-infected persons in care: reducing disparities. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;55:1242–51. doi: 10.1093/cid/cis654

87. CDC. Mortality among Blacks or African Americans with HIV infection — United States, 2008–2012. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2015; 64(4): 81-86.

88. Hall HI, Byers RH, Ling Q, Espinoza L. Racial/ethnic and age disparities in HIV prevalence and disease progression among men who have sex with men in the United States. Am J Public Health. 2007; 97(6):1060-66. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2006.087551

89. Holtgrave DR, Crosby RA. Social capital, poverty, and income inequality as predictors of gonorrhoea, syphilis, chlamydia and AIDS case rates in the United States. Sex Transm Infect. 2003;79(1):62-64. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12576618

90. Stall R, Mills TC, Williamson J, et al. Association of co-occurring psychosocial health problems and increased vulnerability to HIV/AIDS among urban men who have sex with men. Am J Public Health. 2003;93(6):939-942. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12773359

91. Campbell, C and Deacon, H. Unravelling the contexts of stigma: from internalisation to resistance to change. J Community Appl Soc. 2006; 16(6): 411-417. http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/2787/

92. Horvath KJ, Weinmeyer R, Rosser S. Should it be illegal for HIV-positive persons to have unprotected sex without disclosure? An examination of attitudes among US men who have sex with men and the impact of state law. AIDS Care. October 2010; 22(10): 1221-8. doi: 10.1080/09540121003668078

93. U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Rights Division. Best practices guide to reform HIV-specific criminal laws to align with scientifically-supported factors. http://hivlawandpolicy.org/sites/www.hivlawandpolicy.org/files/DOj-HIV-Criminal-Law-Best-Practices-Guide.pdf

94. Burris S, Cameron E. The case against criminalization of HIV transmission. JAMA. 2008;300(5): 578-581. doi:10.1001/jama.300.5.578.

95. Valdiserri RO, Forsyth AD, Yakovchenko V, Koh HK. Measuring what matters: development of standard HIV core indicators across the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Public Health Rep. 2013 Sep-Oct;128(5):354-9. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23997280

96. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Using HIV surveillance data to support the HIV care continuum. https://effectiveinterventions.cdc.gov/en/HighImpactPrevention/PublicHealthStrategies/DatatoCare.aspx

97. Interagency Federal Working Group. Addressing the intersection of HIV/AIDS, violence against women and girls, and gender-related health disparities. September 2013. https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/docs/vaw-hiv_working_group_report_final_-_9-6--2013.pdf

98. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Fact sheet: HIV surveillance supported by the Division of HIV/ AIDS Prevention. May 2014. http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/prevention_ongoing_surveillance_systems.pdf

99. Health Resources and Services Administration. The Ryan White HIV/AIDS program services report. http://hab.hrsa.gov/manageyourgrant/clientleveldata.html

100. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Outbreak of recent HIV and HCV infections among persons who inject drugs. Health Advisory CDCHAN-00377. April 24, 2015. http://emergency.cdc.gov/han/han00377.asp

101. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). 90-90-90: An ambitious treatment target to help end the AIDS epidemic. 2014. http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2014/90-90-90 Accessed June 16, 2015.

102. Van Handel MM, Branson BM. Monitoring HIV testing in the United States: Consequences of methodology changes to national surveys. PLoS One. April 30, 2015; 10(4):e0125637. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0125637

103. National Alliance to End Homelessness. The state of homelessness in America, 2013. http://www. endhomelessness.org/library/entry/the-state-of-homelessness-2013 Accessed June 7, 2015.

To learn more about the National HIV/AIDS Strategy for the United States: Updated to 2020, visit **www.AIDS.gov/2020**

WHITE HOUSE OFFICE OF NATIONAL AIDS POLICY AIDSpolicy@who.eop.gov www.whitehouse.gov/onap

